
PLANS COMMITTEE

This meeting will be recorded and the sound recording subsequently made available via 
the Council’s website: charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees

Please also note that under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 
that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this meeting.  The use of any 
images or sound recordings is not under the Council’s control.

To: Councillors Bailey, Bentley (Vice-Chair), Campsall, Forrest, Fryer (Chair), Grimley, 
Hamilton, Lowe, Ranson, Savage, Snartt, Tassell and Tillotson 

(For attention)

All other members of the Council
(For information)

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Plans Committee to be held in Preston 
Room - Woodgate Chambers on Thursday, 19th December 2019 at 5.00 pm for the 
following business.

Chief Executive

Southfields
Loughborough

11th December 2019

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES

2.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 3 - 5

The Committee is asked to confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting 
held on 21st November 2019.

3.  QUESTIONS UNDER COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 12.8

Public Document Pack

Page 1

file:///C:/Users/karenw/AppData/local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/NU3M8P7G/charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees


No questions were submitted.

4.  DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY AND PERSONAL INTERESTS

5.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS 6 - 87

The list of planning applications to be considered at the meeting is appended.

6.  LIST OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS

88 - 101

A list of applications determined under powers delegated to officers for the period 
from 11th November 2019 to 6th December 2019 is attached at page 88.

WHERE TO FIND WOODGATE CHAMBERS

Woodgate Chambers
70 Woodgate 
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2TZ

Woodgate 
Chambers (Old 
Magistrates Court)

Woodgate

Beehive Lane 
Car Park

Town Hall / Town Centre

Public 
Gallery 
Entrance

A6 
Leicester

A6 Derby

Woodgate

Page 2



1 Plans Committee - 21st November 2019
Published – 29th November 2019 

PLANS COMMITTEE
21ST NOVEMBER 2019

PRESENT: The Chair (Councillor Fryer)
The Vice Chair (Councillor Bentley)
Councillors Bailey, Campsall, Forrest, Hamilton, 
Lowe, Ranson, Savage, Snartt, Tassell and 
Tillotson

Team Leader Development Management
Principal Planning Officer (KB)
Principal Solicitor
Principal Planning Officer (NG)
Democratic Services Manager

APOLOGIES: Councillor Grimley

The Chair stated that the meeting would be recorded and the sound recording 
subsequently made available via the Council’s website.  She also advised that, under 
the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, other people may film, 
record, tweet or blog from this meeting, and the use of any such images or sound 
recordings was not under the Council’s control.

The Chair also stated that members of the Committee had received lobbying 
correspondence in relation to application P/19/0524/2 (Land West of Snells Nook 
Lane, Loughborough) but all members confirmed they retained an open mind.

31. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 24th October 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed.

32. QUESTIONS UNDER COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 12.8 

No questions were submitted.

33. DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY AND PERSONAL INTERESTS 

The following disclosures were made:

(i) By Councillor Fryer – a personal interest in application P/19/2044/2 was 
disclosed due to being a Councillor for Leicestershire County Council.

(ii) By Councillor Forrest – a personal interest in application P/19/1224/2 
was disclosed as her ward Councillor had dealt with the application but 
she assured the Committee she retained an open mind. Councillor 
Forrest also disclosed a personal interest in application P/19/1884/2 as 
the property belonged to a fellow Labour Councillor, however they had 
not discussed the application and she retained an open mind.

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2 Plans Committee - 21st November 2019
Published – 29th November 2019 

(iii) By Councillor Hamilton – a personal interest in application P/19/1884/2 
was disclosed as the property belonged to a fellow Labour Councillor, 
however, they had not discussed the application and he retained an 
open mind.

(iv) By Councillor Snartt – a personal interest in application P/19/0524/2 was 
disclosed as a family member worked for Wilson Bowden Developments 
Limited, however they had not discussed the application and he retained 
an open mind.

(v) By Councillor Tillotson - –a disclosure under the Planning Code of Good 
Practice in respect of application P/19/1224/2 as she had called the 
application in and would be speaking against the application. She also 
disclosed a personal interest in application P/19/1884/2 as the property 
belonged to a fellow Labour Councillor, however they had not discussed 
the application and she retained an open mind.

(vi) By Councillor Campsall – a personal interest in application P/19/2044/2 
was disclosed as he knew the applicant in a personal capacity.

(vii) By Councillor Bentley – a personal interest in application P/19/0524/2 
was disclosed due to being a Councillor for Leicestershire County 
Council.

34. PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

Reports of the Head of Planning and Regeneration, setting out applications for 
planning permission, were submitted (items 1 to 4 in the appendix to the agenda filed 
with these minutes).  Additional Items reports in respect of applications P/19/0524/2 
and P/19/1224/2 were also submitted (also filed with these minutes).

In accordance with the procedure for public speaking at meetings, the following 
objector, applicants or their representatives and representative of a parish council 
attended the meeting and expressed their views:

(i) Mr Wade (objector) and Mr Ward (on behalf of the applicant) in respect of 
application P/19/0524/2.

In accordance with the procedure for Borough Councillors speaking at Plans 
Committee meetings, the following Councillors attended the meeting and expressed 
their views:

(i) Councillor Smidowicz in respect of application P/19/0524/2;
(ii) Councillor Tillotson in respect of application P/19/1224/2.

Having made a disclosure under the Planning Guide of Good Practice, Councillor 
Tillotson withdrew from the Committee table during the consideration of the application 
P/19/1224/2 (33 Station Street, Loughborough).

Councillor Campsall had made an earlier declaration in relation to application 
P/19/2044/2 and withdrew from the Committee table during the consideration of the 
application (66 Pitsford Drive, Loughborough). 

RESOLVED

Page 4



3 Plans Committee - 21st November 2019
Published – 29th November 2019 

1. that, in respect of application P/19/0524/2 (Land West of Snells Nook Lane, 
Loughborough), this item be deferred to a later date to enable the applicant 
time to consider the following:

(ii) a single access point on Snells Nook Lane for the development.

2. that, in respect of application P/19/1224/2 (33 Station Street, Loughborough), 
planning permission be granted subject to the conditions, reasons and advice 
notes set out in the report of the Head of Planning and Regeneration;

3. that, in respect of application P/19/1884/2 (31 Orchard Estate, Quorn), planning 
permission be granted subject to the conditions, reasons and advice notes set 
out in the report of the Head of Planning and Regeneration;

4.   that, in respect of application P/19/2044/2 (66 Pitsford Drive, Loughborough), 
planning permission be granted subject to the conditions, reasons and advice 
notes set out in the report of the Head of Planning and Regeneration.

35. LIST OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

A list of applications determined under powers delegated to officers for the period from 
14th October 2019 to 8th November 2019 was submitted (item 6 on the agenda filed 
with these minutes).

NOTES:

1. No reference may be made to these minutes at the Council meeting on 20th 
January 2020 unless notice to that effect is given to the Democratic Services 
Manager by five members of the Council by noon on the fifth working day following 
publication of these minutes.

2. These minutes are subject to confirmation as a correct record at the next meeting 
of the Plans Committee.

Page 5



Charnwood Borough Council

Plans Committee – 19 December 2019
Index of Committee Items

Item Application 
No

Applicant and Location, 
Description

Recommendation Page

1 P/19/0524/2 Wilson Bowden Developments 
Limited
Land West of Snells Nook Lane
Loughborough
Leicestershire

Outline planning application including 
details of means of access with all other 
matters relating to appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale reserved 
for future consideration, for the 
development of a Science and 
Enterprise Park, (B1 / B2 science park 
uses) including advanced 
manufacturing, comprising of the 
following:
Provision of up to 89,313sq.m of science 
and enterprise park uses within B1 (a), 
B1 (b), B1 (c) and B2 uses.
Green Infrastructure, including strategic 
open space, wildlife areas, attenuation 
basins and drainage features, green 
networks and all associated structural 
and general landscaping.
Provision of main site access on to the 
A512 Ashby Road and two secondary 
vehicular and pedestrian accesses on to 
Snells Nook Lane
Provision of a mixed use 'hub' including 
a mix of additional floorspace of up to 
9565sq.m within A1 (shops), A2 
(Financial & Professional), A3 
(Restaurants & Cafes), A4 (Drinking 
Establishments), A5 (Hot Food 
Takeaway), C1 (Hotel), D1 (Nursery) 
and D2 (Gym) uses all as ancillary 
elements to the main science park.
Provision of network of vehicular, 
pedestrian and cycle routes within the 
development site
Provision for potential Primary 
substation within the development site
Provision of associated infrastructure, 
roads, ground re-modelling works and 
sustainable drainage.

08

Page 6

Agenda Item 5



2 P/19/0876/2 Mr Chris Jennison
Abbeyfield
190 Ashby Road
Loughborough

Demolition of existing care home and 
construction of new 33 bed care home 
and associated works (Class C2).

61

3 P/19/1218/2 Gayna Lees
30 Main Street
Cossington

Conversion of building to dwelling.

76

Page 7



Item No. 1

Application Reference Number P/19/0524/2

Application Type: Outline Planning 
Permission

Date Valid: 07/03/2019

Applicant: Wilson Bowden Developments Limited
Proposal: Outline planning application including details of means of access, 

for the development of a Science and Enterprise Park, (B1 / B2 
science park uses) including advanced manufacturing.  Provision 
of: up to 89,313sq.m of science and enterprise park uses within 
B1 (a), B1 (b), B1 (c) and B2 uses; Green Infrastructure; main 
site access on to the A512 Ashby Road and two secondary 
vehicular and pedestrian accesses on to Snells Nook Lane; a 
mixed use 'hub' including a mix of additional floor space of up to 
9565sq.m within A1 (shops), A2 (Financial & Professional), A3 
(Restaurants & Cafes), A4 (Drinking Establishments), A5 (Hot 
Food Takeaway), C1 (Hotel), D1 (Nursery) and D2 (Gym) uses 
all as ancillary elements to the main science park; a network of 
vehicular, pedestrian and cycle routes within the development 
site; a potential primary substation; and associated 
infrastructure, roads, ground re-modelling works and sustainable 
drainage

Location: Land West of Snells Nook Lane, 
Loughborough.

Parish: Loughborough Ward: Loughborough 
Nanpantan

Case Officer: Nigel Gould                     Tel No: 01509 634735

Introduction

The planning application has been brought to Plans Committee as it relates to a major 
strategic proposal, which is of significant public interest.  It was presented to Plans 
Committee on the 21st November 2019 but was deferred at the request of members to 
enable the applicant time to consider a single access point on Snells Nook Lane for the 
development. It is now represented to Plans Committee with an update explaining the work 
undertaken by the applicant, the response of the Highway Authority and officers’ 
assessment. It also contains updates on the representations received since the agenda for 
21 November was published.

Update

The applicant has considered this request and their highways consultants BWB have 
responded on their behalf by letter to the Borough Council.  The Local Highway Authority 
has in turn commented on the BWB letter.  The letter from BWB is appended in full at the 
end of the report (Appendix 1) but a summary is as follows:

Page 8



 In relation to the northern access point on Snell’s Nook Lane, the applicant is of the 
opinion that this should not be removed or altered as it forms the central hub of the 
overall park and is a key public transport route.

 Consideration has therefore been given to the removal of the southern access only.
 As a result of the closure of the southern access the modelling shows the following:

o The main site access on the A512 would have slightly more vehicles routing 
through the junction. However, the increase in vehicles would not significantly 
affect the operation of it.

o The northern site access on Snell’s Nook Lane would have slightly more 
vehicles routing through it, but the increase in flows would not affect the 
modelling summary presented in the technical work submitted within the 
planning application and would still operate within capacity.

o The Snell’s Nook Lane/Ashby Road signal controlled junction would have a 
lower amount of vehicles turning in/out from Snell’s Nook Lane, but more 
ahead movements on Ashby Road, as there would be more vehicles heading 
to/from to sites access on the A512. The junction could operate slightly worse 
as a result.

 Regardless of the suggested removal of any access points on Snell’s Nook Lane, 
there would be no change to the distribution of traffic to and from the site, other than 
at the three junctions detailed above.

 The removal of the southern access would not result in any reduction in any 
development traffic at the  Nanpantan  crossroads  junction.

 It is concluded that any removal of the southern access is not a desirable outcome 
because it:

o would not result in any improvements to the operation of Snell’s Nook Lane 
or the Nanpantan crossroads.

o could result in a deterioration in the operation of the Snell’s Nook 
Lane/Ashby Roads signal controlled junction.

o could also prejudice the proposed hub at the northern access.
o could reduce longer term public transport options from the south.
o would require further assessment work to fully assess the impact of the 

removal of the southern access, for no real purpose given that its removal is 
not considered to be a desirable outcome.

The Local Highway Authority has reviewed the letter from BWB submitted to the Borough 
Council on behalf of the applicant. They agree with the conclusions reached but feel the 
letter could be clearer in its explanation of the potential impact of a single point of access on 
to Snells Nook Lane, in particular:

 A single point of access onto Snells Nook Lane will not change the assumptions in 
respect of traffic distribution i.e. it will not reduce the amount of traffic using Snells 
Nook Lane or Nanpantan Crossroads

 Any proposal for a single point of access would require a full re-assessment of the 
proposed accesses from Snells Nook Lane and the A512

Furthermore, they note:

 The Emergency Services would need to be consulted on a reduction in the number of 
accesses

Page 9



 The proposal would not be consistent with the masterplan with one point of access 
onto Snells Nook Lane.

Officer Assessment

The applicant has responded to the request by members to consider the option of one point 
of access onto Snells Nook Lane to serve the development.  For the reasons given in their 
letter, the applicant does not consider this option to be desirable and have asked for the 
application to be determined on the basis of the proposal as originally submitted.  The Local 
Highway Authority has reviewed the letter from the applicant and agrees with their 
conclusions.

The concerns of members in relation to the highways impact of the development are 
understood but it is considered that there is no evidential basis to refuse the application on 
highway grounds and in particular no basis to refuse the application in regard to the 
proposed two points of access onto Snells Nook Lane.  The distribution of traffic for 
construction vehicles, workers on the built-out site and HGVs visiting the built out site would 
be the same.  

Through the application process the Local Highway Authority have assessed the 
development proposal carefully to identify if its impacts would cause severe harm to the local 
highway network.  The assessment was based on both strategic modelling using the 
Leicester & Leicestershire Integrated Transport Model (LLITM) and Local Junction testing. 
This is particularly important given that local roads and junctions can be sensitive to variation 
in traffic flow which can result in the redistribution of traffic. Broadly, the modelling identified 
the improvements currently being constructed at the M1 Motorway J23 and on the A512 
would assist in keeping trips on the most appropriate routes. It is also worth bearing in mind 
that the development only has to mitigate its own impact and not solve existing problems. 
As detailed in the Local Highway Authority response of the 14th August 2019, it is considered 
that the development can be mitigated and therefore does not cause severe harm and does 
not conflict with paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

The Local Highway Authority understand the concerns raised in relation to the capacity at 
Nanpantan Crossroads. To make the development acceptable in highway terms they have 
advised the planning authority to obligate the developer to pay a contribution towards 
improvements at Nanpantan Road/Snells Nook Lane signal junction which they consider will 
mitigate the severe harm of the residual cumulative impact of the development, in 
accordance with the NPPF.

The proposed planning conditions and obligations also allow for a degree of flexibility for the 
two proposed T junctions onto Snells Nook Lane.  To allow the junctions to be upgraded to 
roundabouts and to proportionally mitigate for any future highway restrictions on that part of 
Snells Nook Lane.  Planning condition 18 states that phase 1a cannot be occupied until the 
northern access onto Snells Nook Lane has been implemented; condition 19 states that 
phase 3 cannot be occupied until the southern access to Snells Nook Lane has been 
implemented; and condition 5 states that the development shall be built out in sequence in 
accordance with the phasing plan with the development to be built out from west to east and 
from front to back.  In accordance with conditions 18 and 19, indications are that the northern 
access onto Snells Nook Lane will be built out at approximately 5 years from the date of 

Page 10



decision and the southern access will be built out approximately 10 years from the same 
date.  It is therefore considered that the necessary planning conditions and obligations are 
in place to ensure that the development is built out in an appropriate manner, without 
detriment to highway safety and the other issues as discussed in the report below.

For the reasons given above it is not considered necessary or appropriate to seek removal 
of one of the proposed points of access onto Snells Nook Lane.  No decision was made on 
this application at the plans committee meeting of the 21st November and consequently the 
application remains to be determined.  As such the report and recommendation are repeated 
below and members are asked to consider the proposal accordingly. 

Description of the site

This planning application relates to the land on the west side of Snells Nook Lane only but 
within the allocated site for the LSEP. 

The application site is situated on the west side of the town and is bordered to the north by 
the A512 (Ashby Road), Snells Nook Lane to the East, fields to the west and a staggered 
boundary to the south that borders the Longcliffe Golf Club and the access road to the club.  

The application site is a series of agricultural fields.  The western edge of the site runs along 
the outer edge of the access track which serves Hurst Farm which in turn serves the 
surrounding fields.  There is a cluster of farm buildings at the end of this track but the 
application boundary skirts around the edge of these.  The western edge of the application 
site and Hurst Farm is separated by approximately 250m from the M1.  

Public footpath K62 runs south from the A512 along the edge of the M1 and cuts east along 
the edge of the Golf Club and through the adjacent plantation before then running along the 
northern edge of the access to the golf club and onto Snells Nook Lane.  

There are no designated or non-designated heritage assets on or bordering the site but the 
Grade II Registered Park and Garden of Garendon is located approximately 25m to the north 
of the Site.  The Grade II Listed Lodge to Garendon Park is also located approximately 25m 
north of the Site.  The bottom half of the application site, in combination with most of the 
Golf Course, is a local wildlife site.  This is a non-statutory designation and relates in 
particular to the quality of the heathland, acid and neutral grasslands.    

There is an underground water mains with associated easement that runs diagonally across 
the site.  In turn, Burleigh Brook runs from the small ponds in Jameson’s plantation adjacent 
to the Golf Club in a northeast direction across the site and beyond.  The majority of the site 
lies within Flood Zone 1 (Low Probability) with the Brook and small area either side being 
within Flood Zones 2 and 3  

Although there are several mature trees on site none are covered by any protection orders.

The site has a gross site area of 39.5 hectares (97.6 acres) and is predominantly utilised for 
arable farming.  The site is gently undulating with heights varying from 70m AOD to 87m 
AOD with the higher land to the north and south and a localised valley around Burleigh Brook 
where is crosses Snells Nook Lane.    

Page 11



Description of the Proposals

The application is an outline application considering access only with all other matters to be 
considered at Reserve Matters stage. The application identifies the main access on to the 
A512 Ashby Road and two secondary access points on to Snells Nook Lane.  The proposal 
includes;

 Provision of up to 89,313sq.m of B1 (a), B1 (b), B1 (c) and B2 uses;
 Green Infrastructure, including strategic open space, wildlife areas, attenuation 

basins and drainage features, green networks and all associated structural and 
general landscaping;

 Main site access on to the A512 Ashby Road and two secondary accesses on to 
Snells Nook Lane;

 Provision of a mixed use ‘hub’ including a mix of additional floor space of up to 
9565sq.m within A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, C1 (Hotel), D1 (Nursery) and D2 (Gym), to 
be ancillary elements to the main science park;

 Network of vehicular, pedestrian and cycle routes within the site;
 Potential site for Primary substation; and
 All associated infrastructure, roads, and ground re-modelling.

The application is supported by the following documents:

 Site Location Plan
 Illustrative Masterplan
 Parameters Plan
 Schedule of Development 
 Environmental Statement 
 Environmental Statement – Non-Technical Summary 
 Planning Statement
 Design & Access Statement
 Consultation Report 
 Retail Assessment

 August 2019 – Retail Statement Addendum 
 Flood Risk Assessment
 Sustainable Drainage Statement

 8th May 2019 – Updated Drainage Layout and updated Sustainable 
Drainage Statement.

 Transport Assessment 
 30th April 2019 – Technical Highways Note, including classified 

junction counts
 24th June 2019 – Technical Highways Note

 Travel Plan
 15th May 2019 – Heritage Note 

Development Plan Policies

Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy 2011-2028 (Adopted 9th November 2015)

The following key Strategic Objectives are considered relevant:

Page 12



S01- Sustainability
S02- Accessible Facilities
S03- Health
S05- Crime Reduction
S06 - Inclusive Communities
S07 – Climate Change
S08 – Traffic Impact
S010 – Flood Risk
S011 - Landscape 
S012 – Biodiversity
S013 – Design

The following policies are relevant to this application:

Policy CS1 - Development Strategy, sets out the development strategy for the 
Borough. This includes three Sustainable Urban Extensions and the land to the west of 
Loughborough University for an extension to the Science and Enterprise Park.

Policy CS2 – High Quality Design, requires developments to make a positive contribution 
to Charnwood, reinforcing a sense of place.  Development should respect and enhance the 
character of the area, having regard to scale, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials 
and access; protect the amenity of people who live or work nearby, provide attractive well 
managed public and private spaces; well defined and legible streets and spaces and reduce 
their impact on climate change.

Policy CS9 – Town Centre and Shops, seeks to focus town centre use to the town centre 
itself.  The Policy does recognise that there will be other retail development outside of the 
town centre but that this must not have negative impact on the town centre viability.  In 
particular the policy refers to development to the northwest of the town and that should not 
compromise the regeneration of the town centre.  Impact assessments will be required for 
the out of town development for the following:  Loughborough-1000sqm, District Centres-
500sqm, and Other Locations-200sqm.

Policy CS11 – Landscape and Countryside, seeks to protect the character of the landscape 
and countryside. It requires new development to protect landscape character, reinforce 
sense of place and local distinctiveness, tranquillity and to maintain separate identities of 
settlements.

Policy CS12 – Green Infrastructure, seeks to protect and enhance green infrastructure 
assets including addressing the identified needs in open space provision.

Policy CS13 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity, seeks to conserve and enhance the natural 
environment and to ensure development takes into account impact on recognised features.

Policy CS14 – Heritage, sets out to conserve and enhance our historic assets for their 
own value and the community, environmental and economic contribution they make.

Page 13



Policy CS16 – Sustainable Construction and Energy, supports sustainable design and 
construction techniques. It also encourages the effective use of land by reusing land that 
has been previously developed.

Policy CS17 – Sustainable Transport, seeks a 6% shift from travel by private car to 
sustainable  modes  by  requiring  major  developments  to  provide  access  to  key facilities 
by safe and well-lit routes for walking and cycling that are integrated with the wider green 
infrastructure network and by securing new and enhanced bus services where new 
development is more than 400m walk from an existing bus stop.

Policy CS18 – The Local and Strategic Highway Network, seeks to ensure that appropriate 
highway improvements are delivered and applications are supported by appropriate 
Transport Assessments.

Policy CS23 – Relates to the extension of the science and enterprise park to the west of 
Loughborough University.  The Policy seeks to deliver at least 111,000 sqm of space in a 
landscaped campus that provides for the development of businesses operating within or 
directly supporting the knowledge-based sector or University’s own operational activities, 
protects the setting of Garendon Park and retains 40% of the overall site area for green 
infrastructure amongst other considerations.

Policy   CS24   –   Delivering   Infrastructure, seeks   to   ensure   that   development 
contributes to the reasonable costs of on site, and where appropriate off site, infrastructure, 
arising from the proposal through the use of Section 106 Agreements. This is so the local 
impacts of developments will have been reasonably managed and mitigated.

Policy CS25 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; sets out a positive 
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in 
the NPPF.

Borough of Charnwood Local Plan 1991-2006 (adopted 12th January 2004) (saved policies)

Where they have not been superseded by Core Strategy policies, previous Local Plan 
policies remain part of the development plan. In relation to this proposal the relevant policies 
are:

Policy ST/2 – Limits to Development, seeks to restrict development to within the existing 
settlement limits to ensure that development needs can be met without harm to the 
countryside or other rural interests. The Limits to development distinguish between areas of 
development and development potential, and areas of restraint.

Policy EV/1 – Design, seeks to ensure a high standard of design and developments which 
respect the character of the area, nearby occupiers, and which are compatible in mass, 
scale, layout, whilst using landforms and other natural features. Developments should meet 
the needs of all groups and create safe places for people.

Policy CT/1 – General Principles for areas of the countryside, green wedge and local 
separation. The policy restricts new development to that which is small-scale and where it 
meets certain criteria.

Page 14



Policy CT/2 – Developments in the Countryside, indicates in areas defined as countryside, 
development acceptable in principle will be permitted where it would not harm the character 
and appearance of the countryside and safeguards its historic, nature conservation, amenity 
and other local interest.

Policy TR/18 – Parking in New Development, seeks to set the maximum standards by which 
development should provide for off street car parking.

Other material considerations

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2019) 

The NPPF sets out the government’s view of what sustainable development means in 
practice for the planning system. It is a material consideration in planning decisions and 
contains a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11).

The NPPF states (paragraph 8) that there are 3 overarching objectives to achieving 
sustainable development: 

a) An economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying 
and coordinating the provision of infrastructure.

b) A social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet  the 
needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed and 
safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect 
current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-
being; and

c) An environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, 
built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, helping to 
improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and 
pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low 
carbon economy.

Paragraph 11 reaffirms the presumption in favour of sustainable development and for 
decision taking this means:

 approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 

 where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless:

o the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole.

Page 15



The Framework in section 6 highlights the Government commitment to securing economic 
growth (paragraph 80) and states that local planning authorities should plan proactively to 
meet the development needs of business.  Paragraph 81d states that planning policies 
should be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan and allow for 
new and flexible working spaces.

Section 7 of the Framework seeks to support the role that town centres play at the heart 
of local communities (paragraph 85).  Part (e) of the same paragraph states that where 
suitable and viable town centre sites are not available for main town centre uses, allocate 
appropriate edge of centre sites that are well connected to the town centre. If sufficient 
edge of centre sites cannot be identified, policies should explain how identified needs can 
be met in other accessible locations that are well connected to the town centre.

Section 9 of the Framework states that all developments that generate significant amounts 
of movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment and 
a Travel Plan (paragraph 111). Developments that generate significant movement should 
be located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable modes 
maximised (paragraph 103). Developments should be designed to give priority to 
pedestrian and cycle movements and create safe and secure layouts which minimise 
conflicts between traffic and cyclists or pedestrians and within large scale developments, 
key facilities should be located within walking distance of most properties (paragraph 104). 
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds if there would be 
an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual cumulative impacts 
would be severe (paragraph 109).  

Section 12 of the Framework recognises that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development and that high quality and inclusive design should be planned for positively 
(paragraph 124). Paragraph 127 states that planning policies and decisions should ensure 
that developments:

a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development;

b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate 
and effective landscaping;  

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities); 

d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 
distinctive places to live, work and visit; 

e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and

f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health 
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; 
and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.

The role of design review arrangements that assess, support and ensure high 
standards of design are recognised (paragraph 129) and the NPPF notes that 

Page 16



great weight should be given to innovative designs which help raise the 
standard of design (paragraph 131) and that poor design should be refused 
(paragraph 130).

Section 14 of the Framework states that new development should be planned for in 
locations and ways which reduce greenhouse gas emissions and energy efficiency 
improvements in buildings should be actively supported (paragraph 149). It should also 
take account of layout, landform, building orientation, massing and landscaping to 
minimise energy consumption (paragraph 153) and renewable and low carbon energy 
development should be maximised (paragraph 154).New development should be planned 
to avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change 
(paragraph 155) and should not increase flood risk elsewhere and only be considered 
appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, informed by a site-specific flood risk 
assessment following the sequential test, and if required the Exception Test, the most 
vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk and development is 
appropriately flood resilient and resistant and gives priority to the use of sustainable 
drainage (paragraph 163).  Major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage 
systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate (paragraph 165).

Section 15 of the Framework states that valued landscapes should be protected and 
enhanced and the impacts on biodiversity should be minimised and where possible net 
gains provided and both new and existing development not contribute to or be put at 
unacceptable risk, or be adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or 
noise pollution (paragraph 170). Protection of wildlife sites and landscape areas should be 
commensurate with their status within the hierarchy of designation and appropriate weight 
given to their importance and the contribution they make to wider ecological networks 
(paragraph 174). Impacts on biodiversity should be minimised and when determining 
planning applications biodiversity should be conserved and enhanced (paragraph 175).  
Planning policies and decisions should avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse 
impacts on health and quality of life as a result of new development; mitigate and reduce 
to a minimum other adverse impacts and therefore businesses should avoid having 
unreasonable restrictions put on them because of changes in nearby land uses since they 
were established (paragraphs 180 &181).

Section 16 of the Framework states that where a site on which development is proposed 
includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with archaeological interest, local 
planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based 
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation (paragraph 189). In determining 
planning applications the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets should be taken into account (paragraph 191) and the more important the 
asset, the greater the weight to be given to the assets conservation (paragraph 193). 
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal (paragraph 196). The effect of an application on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset should be taken into account through a balanced judgement 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset 
(paragraph 197). 

Supplementary Planning Documents, Guidance and Further Legislation

Page 17



In addition to the above policies, there are also a number of other material policy 
considerations in the form of Supplementary Planning Documents, Guidance and 
Legislation which should be considered along with the development plan policies 
highlighted above. The key documents are:

Planning Practice Guidance 

This national document provides additional guidance to ensure the effective 
implementation of the planning policy set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, 
in particular in relation to flood risk and the Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations. 

Landscape Character Assessment (July 2012)

This Assessment forms part of the evidence base to the Core Strategy. The site lies within 
the Charnwood Forest Character  Area  which  is  described  as  the  upland nature of 
Charnwood Forest, due to the underlying ancient rock, is very different from other 
landscape character areas within the Borough.  The geology has strongly influenced both 
the natural vegetation cover and agricultural land use.   It has the highest percentage of 
woodland cover and wildlife sites in Leicestershire.   Small villages have a strong sense of 
identity through the use of local stone.  The area is very popular for recreation and visitor 
pressure is increasing.

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended)

Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features 
of special architectural or historic interest which they possess. Section 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that in exercising an 
Authority's planning function special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving 
or enhancing the character or appearance of Conservation Areas.

The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (CIL) (as amended)

The Regulations set out the process and procedure relating to infrastructure requirements. 
Regulation 122 states that it must relate in scale and kind to the development.  The 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) places the Government’s policy tests on the use of 
planning obligations into law. It is unlawful for a planning obligation to  be a  reason  for  
granting  planning  permission  when  determining  a planning application for a development, 
or part of a development, that is capable of being charged CIL, whether or not there is a 
local CIL in operation, if the obligation does not meet all of the following tests:

1.  necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
2.  directly related to the development; and
3.  fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development

Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations (2017)

The Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations set out the parameters, procedures and 
Regulatory detail associated with the screening, scoping and preparation of an 

Page 18



Environmental Statement and consideration of significant environmental impacts of 
development. For residential development the threshold to consider under Schedule 2 
developments are 150 dwellings or 5 hectares (Criteria 10(b)).

The following are a list of further relevant documents: 

 Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended)
 Protection of Badgers Act 1992
 The Hedgerows Regulations 1997
 Charnwood Landscape Character Assessment (2012)
 Natural England National Character Area Profiles
 Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (December 2018)
 Loughborough Science and Enterprise Park Concept Masterplan Framework 

(February 2016)
 Loughborough and Leicester Science and Innovation Enterprise Zone 

Implementation Plan (April 2019).

Relevant Planning History

There is no relevant planning history on the application site but the following permissions 
are relevant due to their relationship to the application site and the considerations of the 
application.

Science and Enterprise Park Phase 2

P/07/2740/2 – Outline permission with access detailed only for Science and Enterprise Park, 
land at Holywell Park, Ashby Road.  Approved 01/06/19.

P/07/3548/2 - Sports park development comprising of B1 (A) offices for national sporting 
organisations, parking, landscaping, plant room building and multi-use games area.  
Approved 12/03/08.

P/08/2265/2 - Sports park development comprising of B1 (A) offices for national sporting 
organisations, parking, landscaping, plant room building and multi-use games area.  
(Variation of Condition 14 of planning permission P/07/3548/2). Approved 18/09/08.

P/09/1549/2 - Retention of the Sport park development without compliance with Condition 
15 relating to a multi-use games area at land between Oakwood Drive and New Ashby Road.  
Approved 08/10/09. 

P/14/0322/2 - Formation of access road, landscaping and associated infrastructure. 
(Reserved matters - outline P/07/2740/2 refers).  Approved 05/08/14.

P/14/1043/2 - Erection of three storey innovation centre and associated works. (Reserved 
matters - outline application P/07/2740/2 refers).  Approved 01/09/14.

P/18/0152/2 – Reserved matters application (P/07/2740/2) for a 9560sqm office building.  
Approved 10/09/18.

Page 19



Garendon Park

P/14/1833/2 - Outline planning permission for residential development up to 3,200 dwellings; 
up to 16 ha of employment land of B1/B2 and B8 uses; a mixed-use Community Hub of up 
to 4 ha comprising a local convenience retail unit (2,000 sqm); up to 1,000 sqm of other A1 
retail, A2 financial and professional services, A3 food and drink, B1 business and D1 uses, 
sites for Gypsy, Travellers and Travelling Show people provision totalling 1 ha; 2 primary 
schools up to 2 ha each; strategic open space including allotments; access roads and new 
Strategic Link Road; open space/landscaping and associated works; principal means of 
access; restoration of Garendon Park and assets; all other matters to be reserved.  
Approved 20/07/18.

Response of Statutory Consultees

Leicestershire County Council Highway Authority

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) advice is that the impacts of the development on 
highway safety would not be unacceptable and when considered cumulatively with other 
developments, the impacts on the road network would not be severe.  Based on the 
information provided the development therefore does not conflict with paragraph 109 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), subject to conditions and obligations.   

Highways England

Highways England was previously consulted on this proposal during pre-application stage 
and provided comments on the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and Transport 
Assessment (TA) to be prepared in support of the application. Following the above, 
Highways England was consulted on the formal planning application for this proposal in 
March 2019. Based on our review of the information submitted in support of the formal 
application, we identified several outstanding issues that were required to be addressed by 
the applicant for Highways England’s purposes. These issues, associated with the 
assessment of development’s impacts on the Strategic Road Network (SRN) junctions in 
the area (mainly the M1 J23), were detailed in Highways England’s formal response dated 
April 2019.

Since April 2019 Highways England has been in discussion with the applicant’s transport 
consultant in order to resolve the outstanding matters. The applicant has recently submitted 
a capacity assessment for the M1 Motorway J23. Having reviewed it this assessment the 
Highways England has confirmed they are satisfied that this has been carried out in line with 
the requirements of DfT’s Circular 02/2013. The assessment shows that traffic generated by 
the development in the proposed opening year (2021) can be suitably accommodated within 
the M1 Motorway J23 improvement scheme committed as part of the West of Loughborough 
Sustainable Urban Extension. 

Based on the above, HE raises no objections subject to the inclusion of a planning  condition 
to secure the M1 junction works are in place prior to the the first occupation of the 
development hereby permitted, is placed on  any grant of planning permission.

Leicestershire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority

Page 20



Leicestershire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) advises that the 
proposals are considered acceptable to the LLFA and advise a number of planning 
conditions be attached to any permission granted.

National Forest Company (NFC)

The National Forest Company advise that the application should be considered in light of 
Core Strategy policy CS12 which requires the development to comply with the National 
Forest Company’s Planting Guidelines as set out in our Guide for Developers and Planners. 
These would expect 30% of the site area to be woodland planting and landscaping. As the 
application site extends to 39.51ha, the policy requirement will be for a minimum of 11.85ha 
of woodland planting and landscaping. 

The National Forest Company consider that they also highlight Policy CS23 also expects 
40% of the overall site to be green infrastructure (GI), ‘designed to maintain key linkages 
across the site connecting into the surrounding network’. The National Forest Company 
advise that 13.21ha of strategic green infrastructure is provided as well as 3.95ha of on-
plot green infrastructure. Therefore the quantity requirements of policies CS12 and CS23 
have both been met. The National Forest Company requests that a condition is imposed 
for the reserved matters submission to comply with the Parameters Plan (10-161 P005) 
which sets out the amount of strategic and on-plot green infrastructure. 

The National Forest Company considers that further information is required, to demonstrate 
that while the quantity requirement is met, consideration has been given to how the green 
infrastructure will work and be laid out. Key areas should be identified and further indicative 
detail provided on how each area might look, what purpose does that area serve on the 
green infrastructure network, how does it contribute to ecological connectivity, public 
access enhancements, the setting of the new development etc.    

Leicester City Council

Leicester City Council has no objection, given that the site is allocated as an extension to 
the Loughborough Science Park.  

Environmental Health

Noise - A qualitative construction noise and vibration assessment was undertaken, and 
mitigation measures were recommended. This included a proposed “Construction 
Environmental Management Plan” (CEMP) to minimise the potential impact from noise and 
vibration at existing sensitive receptors. The report concluded that with the implementation 
of the mitigation measures identified, noise and vibration from the construction phase would 
be ‘not significant’.  The assessment methodology was generally sound and was in line with 
appropriate technical guidance.

The report considered the impact of existing noise sources at proposed noise sensitive 
areas of the subject site (i.e. hotel). The assessment demonstrated, that with the 
implementation of an appropriate glazing and ventilation scheme, internal noise levels, as 
recommended in “BS8233:2014- Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for 

Page 21



Buildings”, could be achieved. Noise from existing sources was therefore considered to be 
‘not significant’.

Noise generating elements of the proposed development were assessed at existing 
sensitive receptors (ESRs). The report identified design criteria and noise limits for fixed 
external plant and equipment. Noise from HGV deliveries and movements, and development 
generated road traffic were also assessed. 

The report suggested that providing the noise limits for fixed plant were adopted, noise from 
the proposed development was considered to be ‘not significant’.

The Environmental Health Officer considers the assessment methodology was sound and 
was in line with appropriate technical guidance. The mitigation measures as identified in 
section 11 of the report are therefore considered necessary and appropriate and it is advised 
that these should be secured via condition

Air Quality - The submitted assessment considered construction phase dust impacts and 
operational phase road traffic emissions.  The Environmental Health Officer considers the 
report provides a fair assessment of both. A qualitative construction phase dust assessment 
was also undertaken by the applicant in accordance with relevant guidance.  A detailed road 
traffic emissions assessment was also undertaken to consider the impact of development 
generated road traffic on local air quality at identified receptor locations.

The Environmental Health Officer has confirmed the assessment methodology is generally 
sound and was in line with appropriate technical guidance namely; IAQM document 
‘Guidance on the Assessment of the Impacts of Construction on Air Quality and the 
Determination of their Significance’ and professional judgement.  The report identified 
measures and/or recommendations to minimise emissions during construction activities for 
inclusion in the CEMP or dust management plan (DMP) and these should be secured via 
condition on any approval of planning permission

The Environmental Health Officer has confirmed that road traffic emissions were modelled 
and the report concludes that no significant residual impacts on air quality were anticipated 
and as such no additional mitigation measures were recommended.  However, the 
Environmental Health Officer considers, the project’s Travel Plan details a number of 
mitigation measures which should minimise the proposed development’s transport 
emissions by encouraging sustainable modes of transport and limiting private vehicle use 
which should be encouraged.

Ground Contamination - Due to the lack of development history, the localised nature of the 
potential sources, and the likelihood of shallow soils being largely cohesive, the risk to both 
human health and controlled water receptors is considered to be low.  The submitted report 
concluded that by conducting earthworks in line with CIRIA C741 Good Practice on Site (4th 
edition 2015) and with the adoption of a Construction Environment Management Plan 
(CEMP) including soil dampening and boundary dust monitoring during earthworks, the 
potential for damage to topsoil and soil particulate run-off would be minimised.

Page 22



Based on the information presented and with the implementation of the impact avoidance 
and mitigation measures proposed, the potential risks associated with the construction and 
operation of the proposed development were assessed as being “not significant”.

Historic England

Historic England confirmed on the 30th April 2019 that they note the additional information 
that is contained within the appendices including photomontages, which indicate that the 
development would indeed be visible within views from the Grade II* listed Temple of Venus 
within the Registered park and garden. Historic England advise the local planning authority 
that they should use these to aid them in their assessment of the of impact upon the wider 
setting of the heritage assets in question and in turn judging the level of harm to their 
significance.   Unless Historic England are re-consulted by the lpa, for whatever reason, 
Historic England have no further comments to make at this time.

Historic England commented on the 5th April 2019 - The development would indeed be 
visible within views from the Grade II* listed Temple of Venus within the Registered Parks 
and Gardens (PaG).  Advise that the additional information is taken into consideration and 
the planning application determined in accordance with the principles and requirements of 
the NPPF as per previous correspondence.

Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. They consider 
that the issues and safeguards outlined in their advice need to be addressed in order for the 
application to meet the requirements of paragraphs189; 190 of the NPPF.

In determining this application Historic England consider that the planning authority should 
bear in mind the statutory duty of section66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving listed 
buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which they 
possess.

Environment Agency

The Environment Agency has no objections to the application as currently proposed. 
However this is an outline application with some of the flood risk management measures 
still to be fully defined. They would expect that the full details of all flood risk management 
measures are included within further, detailed submissions. To this end further details on: 
the design and provision of floodplain compensation areas resulting from any ground rising 
within the floodplain; the design of the new culvert on the Burleigh Brook; and clarification 
of the Finished Floor Levels (FFL) to be achieved should be required. These measures 
should be fully tested within the hydraulic model developed to support the proposals.

The Environment Agency have undertaken a review of the hydraulic modelling report 
included with this application and  is satisfied that the modelling approach is appropriate for 
this development. The Environment Agency has been unable to find any evidence that 
sensitivity testing has been carried out on the model to changes in the roughness coefficient 
used. The Environment Agency would expect to see an assessment of the risk to the 
development from blockages to both the existing and proposed new culverts within the 
development boundary.

Page 23



The proposed development will only meet the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
policy to ensure new development is safe for its lifetime and does not increase flood risk 
elsewhere if the recommended planning conditions are included in any approval of planning 
permission.

Leicestershire County Council Public Rights of Way

The County Council states there is a need for detailed discussion on the treatment of the 
Public Rights of Way and recommend that such provision is dealt with as a reserved matter 
and that a planning condition relating to details should be placed on any outline planning 
permission granted for the site.

Leicestershire Police, Architectural Liaison Officer

No objections but a series of recommendations are made in relation to designing out crime.

East Midlands Airport

The Safeguarding Authority for East Midlands Airport has assessed this proposal and its 
potential to conflict aerodrome Safeguarding criteria. They have no aerodrome safeguarding 
objections to the outline proposal subject to the addition of conditions relating to bird strike 
avoidance with the drainage lagoons and glare.  An information note relating to crane 
heights is also suggested. 

Third Party Representations

A total of 26 letters of objection have been received from local residents and 
Loughborough University. The objections raised include:

Environment

 Loss of agricultural land.  
 Loss of open space.
 There must be other more suitable brownfield sites.
 The development borders on the remnants of the old Charnwood Forest Canal.
 The proposal would significantly and adversely impact on the first impressions 

of entering the town.
 Destruction of wildlife.
 Out of keeping with the area.
 The development would lead to an increase in the volume of water draining off 

the site.

Amenity

 This is the wrong location for an industrial estate.

Page 24



 The proposal will have an adverse effect on the street appearance of Snells 
Nook Lane.

 The development will become a motorway stop.
 There will be noise and pollution issues from the development to nearby 

residents.
 Why does the development need to come so close to the village?

Infrastructure

 Lack of bus service.

Highways

 The proposal will add to already congested roads.
 There are already traffic issues on Snells Nook Lane.
 Raise concerns about the flow of traffic from the development which will allow 

build-up of traffic on the lane at peak times.
 Vehicles using the development should be restricted to use of the A512 junction 

as entry/exit.
 The service road through the site should be circular without the need for points 

of entry across Snells Nook Lane.
 The submitted traffic data shows an increase in traffic.
 The traffic data does not show the traffic flow for each hour.
 The traffic impact assessment is unrealistic.
 The proposals for altering Snells Nook Lane will not reduce queuing traffic 

length;
 Changing the traffic light sequencing at Prior Crossroads will not mitigate the 

development;
 There are existing problems turning out of Longcliffe Gardens on to Snells Nook 

Lane at peak times as well as noise and fumes. The development will make this 
worse;

 The character of the area is being changed by the amount of development and 
new traffic associated with it.

 The improvements to the Snells Nook Lane related to this proposal amount to 
an extra lane at the crossroads which will only reduce the queuing traffic by the 
length of 4 to 5 vehicles.

 More needs to be done to discourage use of single occupancy vehicles.
 There are some good recommendations in the report to encourage the use of 

public transport, to encourage cyclists and pedestrians.

The proposal

 Why does an industrial estate in reach of the town centre require a restaurant, 
hotel, gym, bank, a shop and a conference centre?  This takes business away 
from the town centre.

Page 25



 Impact on town centre retail.
 Claims about the increase in jobs and economic development are 

unsubstantiated and optimistic.
 It is inappropriate because it includes extensive commercial and entertainment 

developments that are incompatible with the designation as a science park.
 It is untimely because the Loughborough University Science and Enterprise Park 

on the land to the east of Snells Nook Lane has plenty of space for development.  
 The hotel, restaurant and other entertainment aspects will be built first.
 No compelling case has been put forward for the development.
 The development does not comply with the core principles of the science and 

enterprise park master plan frameworks final report.  
 There has been no public consultation on the Hawkins Brown concept 

masterplan.  It would be unsound for the application to be considered until there 
has been meaningful consultation about the concept master plan.  

 The proposal does not comply with CBC’s vision for the park as being a green 
space with low-density, well designed buildings.

 There has been a lack of consultation with residents prior to submission of the 
planning application. 

 Insufficient weight is given to neighbour’s objections.  On this occasion we require 
the planning officer to present a balanced recommendation to the plans 
committee.

 We were assured that:
o There would be no speculative built development.
o The site would be developed for hi tech uses.
o The site would not be allowed to be over developed.
o No modifications have been made to the access from Snells Nook Lane as 

requested.

As such the application should be refused on the grounds of misdirection. 
 There are also more suitable developers as Wilson Bowden do not own the site.
 The height of the buildings would be too prominent.
 The application states that B1 would take up 38% of the total floor area and 

53% of the total floor area to be B2.  If the application was actually for a science 
park the B1 use would be between 80-100%.  As proposed the site cannot be 
classed as a science park

 The proposed screening is not suitable. 

The ward member, Councillor Smidowicz has raised the following concerns:

 The change from the original outline planning permission for a science park to a 
general retail and leisure park is very unwelcome.

 Too many towns are blighted by grey non-descript sheds with no character.  
Appropriate landscaping and architecture are required to ensure an attractive 
approach to Loughborough from J23.

Page 26



 Snells Nook Lane is already very congested.  Service roads should not connect 
with Snells Nook Lane.

 The developers should provide a relief road from the A512 to Nanpantan Road 
to solve the traffic issues. 

Full copies of all representations can be found on the Council’s website.

Consideration of the Planning Issues

This application is for outline planning permission as explained at the beginning of this 
report and the key considerations are therefore the following:

 Principle of development
 Highways Impact and Mitigation
 Impact on Local Heritage Assets
 Pre-application Engagement
 The quality and Design of the Development
 Layout and the Indicative Masterplan
 Landscape Impact
 Long term Management of Open Space & Green Infrastructure
 Loss of Agricultural Land
 Flooding and Drainage
 Ecology Wildlife and Trees
 Retail Impact
 Relationship to Neighbouring Properties
 S106 developer contributions

Principle of Development.

The starting point for decision making on all planning applications is that they must be made 
in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Policies in the adopted Core Strategy and the saved policies in the Borough of Charnwood 
Local Plan are therefore the starting point for consideration.  

Policy CS1 defines the settlement hierarchy and the criteria for considering proposals within 
individual tiers of settlements. The Development Strategy set out in the Policy seeks to guide 
development to locations that are well connected to jobs, services and infrastructure in order 
to provide a sustainable pattern of development.  Policy CS1 guides development to the 
Leicester Principal Urban Area, as priority location for growth; with the majority of the 
remaining growth being directed to Loughborough and Shepshed.  As part of this 
development strategy Policy CS1 make provision for a Sustainable Urban Extension to the 
west of Loughborough (north of the A512) of up to 3,200 homes and up to 16 hectares of 
employment land – planning permission reference P/14/1833/2.  Crucially for this proposal 
Policy CS1 also makes provision for up to a 77ha extension to the Science and Enterprise 
Park to the south of the A512 and to the west of Loughborough on land adjacent to 
Loughborough University to complement the sustainable urban extension allocation.  This 
application is for the development of the western half of this site for the development of a 
science and enterprise park.

The key policy directive for the site is Policy CS23, the full wording of which is as follows:

Page 27



“Loughborough University and Science & Enterprise Park
We will allocate 77 hectares of land to the west of Loughborough University for an 
extension to the Science and Enterprise Park.
This will include 35 hectares of land to the east of Snell’s Nook Lane for Phase 3 and 
42 hectares to the west of Snell’s Nook Lane for Phase 4.
By 2028 the Science and Enterprise Park will deliver at least 111,000 sqm of space in 
a landscaped campus that:
 provides for uses that directly relate to the University’s own operational activities 

including teaching, research and development, administration, student 
accommodation and sports facilities;

 provides for the development of businesses operating within or directly supporting 
the knowledge based sector;

 delivers a range of development opportunities that includes an innovation centre, 
space for business start-ups, grow on units for small and medium sized 
enterprises and potential for inward investment;

 provides for appropriate ancillary uses to serve the Science and Enterprise Park 
and ensures that any main town centre uses are in accordance with Policy CS9;

 protects historic and archaeological features including the setting of Garendon 
Registered Park and Gardens and its assets in accordance with Policy CS14;

 integrates with the sensitive landscape and respects it’s character, biodiversity 
and appearance in accordance with Policy CS11 and CS13;

 retains 40% of the overall site area for green infrastructure, designed to maintain 
key linkages across the site connecting into the surrounding network in 
accordance with Policy CS11 and CS12;

 provides high quality design and innovation in the form and layout of the 
development, buildings and green space in accordance with Policy CS2;

 where viable, exceeds the Building Regulations for carbon emissions in 
accordance with Policy CS16;

 delivers buildings and spaces that have been designed to be adaptable to future 
climatic conditions including extremes of temperature, drought and flooding in 
accordance with Policy CS16;

 includes appropriate Sustainable Drainage Systems and flood alleviation 
measures and where possible reduces flood risk in Loughborough in accordance 
with Policy CS16;

 provides genuine choice to walk and cycle and is well connected to public 
transport networks in accordance with Policy CS17; and

 makes a positive contribution to the provision of highway infrastructure as 
identified through a Transport Assessment in accordance with Policy CS17 and 
CS18.

We will do this by working with our public and private sector partners, including 
Loughborough University, to:

 prepare a flexible Development Framework, including delivery and phasing 
arrangements and a masterplan that sets parameters and a phasing strategy for 
the delivery of a cohesive development;

 establish an economic development strategy to capture the wider benefits of the 
development; and

 support the University in the development of management and marketing 
practises that assist the delivery of the Science and Enterprise Park;

We will require the flexible Development Framework and detailed planning applications 
to be informed by a Green Infrastructure Strategy and a Sustainability Assessment that 
identifies the developments response to carbon emissions reduction and climate 
change resilience.”

Page 28



Policy CS23 contains some very specific aims that seek to ensure that the Science and 
Enterprise Park is bespoke, high quality, set within a green landscape that provides high 
quality employment.  Paragraph 10.51 of the preamble to CS23 states: 

 “We do not want to see the Science and Enterprise Park used for general industrial 
development or Warehouses.  The Science and Enterprise Park will only work if it is 
purely for businesses within the knowledge-based sector.  Such businesses rely on 
the creation, evaluation and trading of knowledge.  These types of businesses include 
high and medium technology manufacturing, communications technology, financial 
and professional services, creative and cultural industries and employment in 
education and health care.” 

 The preamble to this policy also states in paragraph 10.54:  
“The landscape will need to be planned for carefully.  Early phases of the Science and 
Enterprise Park have maintained a parkland setting by retaining 40% of the 
development site as open and undeveloped.  We want to continue this and will only 
allow an extension to the Science and Enterprise Park within this attractive landscape 
because of its outstanding economic advantage and the fact that it can be developed 
in a landscaped parkland setting.”  

Both of these aspects are reflected in the wording of the policy itself but it is important to 
understand the context behind this.  

Whilst the proposal is in outline only, with access included, it is vital that the structure for 
achieving the stated aims of the policy is set with any outline planning permission both with 
planning conditions and S106 obligations.  Matters of heritage and archaeology; landscape; 
green infrastructure; high quality design; carbon emissions; SuDs and flood alleviation; 
transport; and economic development will be considered in detail in the sub-headings that 
follow.  

It is considered that there are three key matters that warrant further debate in determining 
the principle:  

 Control of use;
 definition of knowledge-based sector; and 
 the flexible development framework.  

These are considered in turn below.

Control of use - 

The development description is copied in full in the title page for this report and includes 
very specific use class orders and associated floor space.  Any future development would 
need to accord with the planning conditions, the obligations in the S106 Agreement and the 
development description on the decision notice.  It is important that this park is developed 
out in such a way, that it accords with the requirements of the policy and that it does not 
revert to general business or storage uses over time.  It is also important that ancillary uses 
are delivered at the appropriate scale and time.  Finally, to ensure the site develops out in 
accordance with stated aims of policy CS23 it is important to remove permitted development 
rights for the stated use classes to avoid any changes of use that would not accord with the 
aims of policy CS23.  For these reasons it is considered that the best way to control this 
aspect would be via an obligation in the associated S106 Agreement.  The wording is to be 
agreed but the heads of terms in recommendation A list the key constraints required to 
control uses and to meet the requirements of policy CS23.

Knowledge-based sector – 

Page 29



It is a key aim of Policy CS23 that the park provides for the development of businesses 
operating within or directly supporting the knowledge-based sector.  Paragraph 10.51 of the 
Core Strategy sets out that the Science and Enterprise Park concept will only work if it is 
purely used for businesses within the knowledge-based sector. It explains that such 
businesses rely on the creation, evaluation and trading of knowledge. These types of 
businesses include high and medium technology manufacturing, communications 
technology, financial and professional services, creative and cultural industries and 
employment in education and health care. It is important that a definition is set out within the 
S106 Agreement to assist both the Borough Council and the applicant in the development 
of this site.   The suggested planning condition states that any development on this site must 
be occupied by a business that conforms to the definition of knowledge-based sector as 
defined in the accompanying S106 Agreement.  This would satisfy the tests for an 
acceptable condition and obligation and in turn ensure that any future development is 
occupied in accordance with this site specific constraint.  

Flexible development framework – 

A fundamental aim of Policy CS23 is that the overall site is developed out in a cohesive way.  
The policy states that the Borough Council will work with private and public sector partners 
to prepare a flexible development framework plan.  In 2015 the Borough Council 
commissioned Hawkins Brown to prepare a concept masterplan framework.  A partnership 
was formed of Charnwood Borough Council, Loughborough University, Leicestershire 
County Council and Wilson Bowden.  The partnership developed proposals for the physical 
environment of the Park, underpinned by an assessment of its viability and deliverability.  

The Concept Masterplan Framework was finalised in February 2016 and sets out a 
framework for: 

 The location of the strategic road infrastructure.
 The location of primary and secondary roads within the Park.
 Access points and gateways into the Park.
 The location of the strategic ecological corridors and natural parkland features.
 The location and size of development parcels and their predominant land use.

Page 66 of the Hawkins Brown Report follows on from this and states: “This framework only 
sets out the proposed structure of the Park, safeguarding the key qualitative and spatial 
principles…The Framework is flexible enough to accommodate development in a number 
of different ways, taking into account possible future changes in market tends or delivery 
mechanisms.”  

For the purposes of Policy CS23 the Hawkins Brown Report provides a flexible development 
framework plan and is a material consideration in the determination of this planning 
application.  The Concept Masterplan Framework is considered to satisfy the requirements 
of the Policy.  

The application site is within the allocated site for the extension of the Science and 
Enterprise Park as defined in Policy CS23.  It is considered that the layout, development 
plots and green infrastructure as indicated on the illustrative masterplan submitted with the 
outline planning application accord with the principles of policy CS23 and the Hawkins 
Brown Concept Masterplan Framework and can be controlled by planning conditions for 
future reserved matters applications and by planning obligations secured in a S106 legal 
agreement.  In terms of the access, the submitted details accord with the broad aims of the 

Page 30



flexible development plan provided by the Hawkins Brown Concept Masterplan Framework.  
As such it is considered that the application is acceptable in principle and accords with the 
fundamental aims of Policies CS1 and CS23.  The remainder of the repor t  therefore 
addresses the other planning considerations against which the application proposal 
should be measured.

Highways Impact and Mitigation

Policy CS17 of the Core Strategy seeks to provide a genuine choice for our community to 
walk, cycle or take longer trips on public transport.  Development is expected to be managed 
in ways which secure improvements or results in an efficient and effective transport network. 
Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy seeks to maximise the efficiency of the local and strategic 
road network by 2028 by requiring new developments (including this application) to deliver 
an appropriate and comprehensive package of transport improvements.

Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. 
Paragraph 108 further states that decision makers should ensure that the opportunities for 
sustainable transport modes have been taken up, safe and suitable access to the site 
can be achieved, and improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that 
cost effectively limits the significant impact of the development. Paragraph 109 in turn states 
that development should only be refused on transport grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual cumulative impacts on the 
road network would be severe.

The Local Highway Authority Advice is that, in its view, the impacts of the development on 
highway safety would not be unacceptable, and when considered cumulatively with other 
developments, the impacts on the road network would not be severe. Based on the 
information provided, the development therefore does not conflict with paragraph 109 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), subject to the planning conditions and planning 
obligations detailed in recommendation A and B of this report.

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) understands that this is an outline planning application 
with all matters reserved except access.  The main site access is on to the A512 Ashby 
Road and two secondary accesses are proposed on to Snells Nook Lane.

The Developer proposes to take access off the A512 via a 4 armed partially signalised 
roundabout. This roundabout would also provide access to the Garendon SUE 
(P/14/1833/2) development, located north of this development site and was required as a 
planning condition to that consent. Access to this development proposal will be therefore 
taken off the southern approach of the roundabout.

The roundabout forms part of the wider M1 Motorway J23 / A512 improvement works also 
obligated to the P/14/1833/2 consent. This project aims to deliver junction and road 
improvements to the M1/J23 and A512 to increase capacity and ease congestion, and 
specifically unlock significant land for new development.  These works have commenced on 
site, led by the Local Highway Authority.  The Local Highway Authority advises that the 
access has been designed in accordance with the appropriate standard DMRB TD16/07 
and is considered safe and suitable in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Page 31



The applicant proposes two secondary accesses onto Snells Nook Lane. Both accesses are 
proposed to be priority T-Junctions and have been designed in accordance with the 
appropriate standard DMRB TD 42/95.  The proposed masterplan shows the Snells Nook 
Lane access points overlaid with roundabouts as part of a potential future upgrade; this is 
shown to provide an east-west connection into the parcel of land to the east of Snells Nook 
Lane forming part of the wider allocation in the Local Plan but outside the redline of this 
planning application.  The applicant has indicated that land around these accesses will be 
reserved so that ultimately, and if required, the accesses could be upgraded to roundabouts 
to accommodate a future development on the eastern side of Snells Nook Lane, and 
appropriate works to Snells Nook Lane. The reservation of land should be secured through 
a S106 legal agreement.

With regards to the internal highway layout, the detail of the internal arrangements of the 
site will form part of later reserve matters applications. . The indicative masterplan submitted 
with the application shows Snells Nook Lane realigned through the development site. The 
applicant has indicated the design specification i.e. highway geometries, design speed, and 
indicative layout which demonstrates that, subject to detailed consideration, the internal 
spine road proposal can be delivered. This will be considered as part any Reversed Matters 
application, detailed design, road safety audits and S38/S278 consent.

With regards to pedestrian accessibility, the Masterplan shows internal connections for 
pedestrians and cyclists, including connecting footways to the proposed internal highway 
layout. Pedestrian and cycle access to the site will be provided from the new site access 
junction on the A512.  The applicant has explored the possibility, following analysis of the 
proposed pedestrian catchment areas and demand, of a new footway linking to Nanpantan 
alongside Snells Nook Lane.  The applicant has indicated a commitment to providing this 
infrastructure which should be secured by planning condition with an appropriate trigger 
point for delivery.

With regards to Public Transport, the location of the development site means that there is a 
realistic prospect of serving the site by public transport. A flexible approach should be taken 
to the public transport strategy in terms of the most effective, operationally sustainable and 
reliable service, which may be subject to end-user requirements and build-out of the 
development. Once development becomes occupied there would be an opportunity to 
provide public transport infrastructure within the site e.g. bus stops/ shelters allowing buses 
to serve the internal site. An appropriate trigger/ mechanism should be detailed within the 
S106 legal agreement and details of phasing should be included within a public transport 
strategy.

Highway Impact Assessment, the transportation analysis for large development sites are 
normally tested using a strategic transport model due to the complex and interrelated 
transport issues. This means that effects of traffic re-distribution and the interaction between 
junctions can be tested and understood.  The Highway Authority and applicant have 
undertaken thorough traffic modelling and impact assessment.  The Highway Authority 
confirms that the analysis demonstrates that the highways works provide a positive 
economic benefit. This means that following the implementation of the above works, and the 
introduction of development traffic, the potential negative impacts of development traffic can 
be mitigated on the A512 and M1 Motorway Junction 23. The Applicant has confirmed their 
commitment to contributing towards these improvements on a proportional basis and has 

Page 32



already signed up to the highways S278 Legal Agreement for the upgrade to the A512 and 
provision of the new roundabout, for which work has already commenced.

The distribution of development traffic on the network takes account of the mode of travel 
associated with the land use. For example, the movement of HGVs would be entirely 
different from trips undertaken by employees by car or public transport. By segmenting trip 
distribution by mode of travel, the impact on the network by each mode can be isolated and 
analysed. This trip distribution has been undertaken using the LLITM gravity model. 

Following on from the strategic traffic modelling, the developer has undertaken detailed 
traffic modelling of local junctions.  Local committed developments have been included as 
part of the local junction testing and future year scenario modelling. This is entirely in-
keeping with industry standard techniques. Of particular significance, the Applicant 
undertook a sensitivity scenario which included the entire allocated area of Policy CS23; the 
land east and west of Snells Nook Lane. This has been based on reasonable assumptions 
of anticipated trip making.  A summary of the testing is as follows:

 Snells Nook Lane – A512.  In 2024 the junction is anticipated to operate within 
capacity following the introduction of development traffic for both the AM and PM 
peak; The total allocated area is tested, the sensitivity test, the junction is 
anticipated operate slightly over capacity during the AM peak and within capacity 
during the PM; The scheme significantly outweighs the harm of no highway 
intervention at the A512 and, noting the constraints, available land and forecast 
traffic flows, the scheme is considered to be the optimal solution for access on 
the A512; a vital arterial link between the M1 and Loughborough Town Centre.

 Site Access- Northern access from Snells Nook Lane.  T-Junction- In 2024 the 
junction is anticipated to operate within capacity following the introduction of 
development traffic in both the AM and PM peak. The junction is also anticipated 
to operate within capacity with the total allocation tested; Future Roundabout- In 
2024 the junction is anticipated to operate within capacity following the 
introduction of development traffic in both the AM and PM peak. The junction is 
also anticipated to operate within capacity with the total allocation tested.

 Site Access- Southern access from Snells Nook Lane.  T-Junction- In 2024 the 
junction is anticipated to operate within capacity following the introduction of 
development traffic in both the AM and PM peak. The junction is also anticipated 
to operate within capacity with the total allocation tested; Future Roundabout- In 
2024 the junction is anticipated to operate within capacity following the 
introduction of development traffic in both the AM and PM peak. The junction is 
also anticipated to operate within capacity with the total allocation tested.

 Ashby Road/Snells Nook Lane Signal Junction.  The junction currently operates 
within capacity; In the future, without development traffic, the junction is predicted 
to operate significantly over capacity in the AM peak and slightly over capacity in 
the PM peak; With development traffic, the junction deteriorates further; When 
the entire allocation is tested, the outputs indicate significant congestion at the 
junction; Despite all reasonable assumptions made by the Applicant, given it is 
not known at this time what the specific impacts of total allocation of development 
traffic will be the LHA would be concerned with prematurely introducing measures 
which may not mitigate the impact of development traffic of the total allocation; It 
is advised by the Highway Authority to ensure proposals cost effectively mitigate 
the residual cumulative impacts in accordance with the NPPF, that developer 

Page 33



contributions are secured through a S106 legal agreement for both the provision 
of junction intervention and monitoring. 

 A512 Ashby Road/A6004 Epinal Way Signal Roundabout.  The junction currently 
operates within capacity; In the future, without development traffic, the junction is 
predicted to operate within capacity in both peaks; Following the introduction of 
development traffic, the junction is predicted to operate slightly over capacity 
during AM peak and within capacity in the PM peak; and Following the 
introduction of the entire allocation the junction is anticipated to operate 
significantly over capacity in the AM peak and within capacity in the PM peak; 
and the analysis shows the following the introduction of the entire allocation, the 
residual cumulative impact is predicted to be severe. 

 Snells Nook Lane/Nanpantan Road Signal Junction.  The junction currently 
operates significantly over capacity; In the future, without development traffic, the 
junction is anticipated to operate significantly over capacity; This situation is 
significantly exacerbated when the entire allocation is tested: the LHA advises 
that there is a good prospect of delivering an improvement scheme at this junction 
to mitigate the severe harm of the residual cumulative impact of the development 
in accordance with the NPPF and secured via the S106 Agreement.

In relation to the specific point raised about changing the traffic light sequence, the objector 
has misread the consultee response from the Local Highway Authority and there is no 
requirement to amend the committee report in this respect.  The Local Highway Authority 
response considers the applicant’s proposal in full and whilst the applicant proposed some 
changes to the traffic light sequence in this location they did not consider it to be a viable 
option and as such does not form part of their suggested conditions or obligations in their 
formal response.  

The comments from the residents in relation to travel plans are noted but it is considered 
that these matters are covered in the published report from pages 28 to 35 and in particular 
condition 24 on page 51 relating to the need for a site wide travel plan.

In conclusion the residual cumulative impacts of development traffic on the road network are 
predicted to be severe but can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree in 
accordance with the NPPF. This development proposed is a core policy objective allocated 
in Charnwood Borough Council’s Local Plan. It poses a number of transport challenges. The 
Highway Authority advises the LPA that subject to planning conditions and obligations 
highlighted through these observations the development proposals are acceptable and the 
development would therefore accord with Policies CS17, CS18 and CS23 Charnwood Core 
Strategy and the advice contained within paragraphs 108, 109 and 111 of the NPPF.  

Impact on Heritage Assets

As stated above, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess and 
Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that in exercising an authority's planning function, special attention shall be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of Conservation Areas.  
The National Planning Policy Framework at paragraphs 189, 190, 193 and 196 requires an 

Page 34



assessment of the potential harm a proposed development would have upon the 
significance of a designated heritage asset.

Policy CS14 requires development proposals to protect heritage assets and their setting; 
supporting developments which have been informed by and reflect Conservation Area 
Character Appraisals, Landscape Character Appraisals and Village Design Statements; and 
supporting developments which incorporate Charnwood’s distinctive local building materials 
and architectural detail.

There are no below ground archaeological remains currently recorded within the application 
site.  A tree lined drive, formerly associated with Garendon Park is located within the 
application site and will largely be preserved in situ as part of the development.  

In terms of built heritage, there are no listed buildings within the application site but a number 
are located within the vicinity of the site.  The plan extract below shows the locations of these 
nearby heritage assets, including Listed Buildings, Registered Park and Garden and a 
Scheduled Monument. 

The application is supported by an Environmental Statement within which Chapter 8 relates 
to Cultural Heritage.  The original Environmental Statement was submitted on the 6th March 
2019 with a detailed update received on the 5th April 2019.  The April 2019 update included 
a detailed update to the Cultural Heritage chapter, with series of historic maps, site photos 
and detailed analysis of the impact on the setting.  Chapter 8 of the Environmental Statement 
is also supported by a detailed appendix which has historic maps and viewpoints from the 
site to the heritage assets.

The updated Environmental Statement confirms:

Page 35



 That there is no evidence to suggest that archaeological remains are located 
within the site which would present a significant constraint.  

 The Grade II Registered Park and Garden of Garendon is located approximately 
25m to the north of the Site. An overgrown 19th-century tree- lined drive within 
the Site was formerly associated with Garendon, and makes a very minor 
contribution to its overall significance. The rural land and vegetation within the 
northern part of the site also makes a very minor contribution to its significance 
as undeveloped land within the middle ground in views southward from the park, 
to the higher wooded hills of Charnwood Forest beyond. The Site also makes a 
very minor contribution to the significance of the Grade II* Listed Temple of Venus 
and the Grade II Listed White Lodge within Garendon for the same reasons.

 The Grade II Listed Lodge to Garendon Park is located c. 25m north of the Site. 
The tree-lined drive within the site was formerly associated with the lodge, and 
makes a minor contribution to its significance. The vegetation along the northern 
Site boundary and the rural land within the northern part of the site (visible from 
the lodge during the winter months) makes a very minor contribution to its 
significance through its aesthetic value, as part of the rural surrounds.

 Hurst Farm, immediately to the west of the Site, is a 19th- century farmstead 
containing a number of non-designated farm buildings. The rural land within the 
Site makes a minor contribution to the significance of these buildings, as 
historically associated agricultural land.

 No further heritage assets within or beyond the 3km study were considered to be 
sensitive to development within the Site.

Having reviewed Chapter 8 and the appendices, officers consider the above comments 
are a fair and reasonable analysis of the cultural heritage of the site and surroundings.   

Paragraph 189 of the NPPF states that: “In deterring applications, local planning authorities 
should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, 
including any contribution made by their setting.  The level of detail should be proportionate 
to the assets importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact 
of the proposal on their significance.  As a minimum the historic environment record should 
have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where 
necessary.  When a site on which development is proposed includes, or has the potential to 
include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities should 
require developers to submit an appropriate desk-base assessment and, where necessary, 
a field evaluation.”

Paragraph 190 of the NPPF states:  “Local planning authorities should identify and assess 
the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including 
by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking into account of the available 
evidence and any necessary expertise.  They should take this into account when considering 
the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the 
heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal.”  

Page 36



The comments from Historic England are noted and in particular their comments of the 30th 
April 2019 are noted  Officers consider  that the cultural heritage supporting evidence 
submitted in its entirety does indeed satisfy the requirements of paragraph 189 of the NPPF 
- in particular the supporting evidence in the April 2019 appendices.  

In relation to paragraph 190 it is considered that the development would have a moderate 
impact on the heritage significance of the setting of the Garendon Grade II registered park 
and garden and the grade II listed Temple of Venus.  It is considered that the development 
would have a minor impact on the heritage significance of the setting of the grade II White 
Lodge and Lodge to Garendon Park, due to the separation distances, the transect of the 
A512 and the proposed mitigation.  Similarly, it is considered that the development will have 
a minor impact on the non-designated setting of Hurst Lodge.  The local planning authority 
has therefore conformed to the requirements of paragraph 190 of the NPPF.

The development site is an allocated site in the adopted Core Strategy for a Science and 
Enterprise Park – Policy CS23.  One of the stated aims is that the development on this site 
must protect the historic and archaeological feature including the setting of Garendon 
Registered Park and Gardens and its assets in accordance with Policy CS14.  It is noted 
that there is an extant planning permission for 3,200 dwellings and 16 hectares of 
employment land on the Garendon site itself which will be served by a new access and 
roundabout on the A512.  The application site will be served off the same new roundabout.  
The site access road south of this new roundabout has therefore been set.  It is considered 
that the phasing of the frontage development as submitted with this application and the 
reduced maximum ridge heights along the same frontage development, as detailed on the 
parameters plan are positive responses to the setting of Garendon Park.  Furthermore, the 
conditioning of these two plans with any grant of planning permission would set the 
framework for future reserve matters applications in ensuring that the necessary standards 
to protect the heritage assets are maintained with any future development on this site.

Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states: “Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing 
its optimum viable use.”

The site is allocated for a Science and Enterprise Park in the adopted Core Strategy.  This 
planning application seeks outline permission for the same use and is the first application in 
the implementation of the development of this allocated site.  The proposal would therefore 
assist the Borough Council in the delivery of a key development site and bring forward 
economic development in terms of business development and jobs.  The site is in a 
prominent location at a key entrance point to the town.  The highway network fronting the 
site is in the process of being upgraded and a new roundabout and entrance to the 
application site will be provided, part funded by the applicant.  As the development proposal 
would lead to less than substantial harm it is considered that this harm is outweighed by the 
public benefits detailed above and as such accords with paragraph 196 of the NPPF.

In conclusion and in accordance with the Act, guidance contained within the NPPF and Core 
Strategy Policy CS14, it is considered the proposed development would cause less than 
substantial harm to the significance of the designated archaeological and heritage assets 
and would be considered appropriate with the aims and objectives of legislation, policies   of   
the   Development   Plan   and   the   NPPF   as   a   material   planning consideration.

Page 37



The Quality and Design of the Development

Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy requires new development to carefully respect the character 
of the surrounding area and development in terms of layout, size, scale design and public 
views.  Policy CS23 has a list of requirements including a specific requirement to provide 
high quality design and innovation in the form and layout of the development, buildings and 
green space in accordance with Policy CS2.  This is further reinforced by the requirements 
of the flexible development framework, in this case the Hawkins Brown Concept Masterplan 
Framework, which seeks to set the key qualitative and spatial principles for the overall site 
which in turn will ensure a cohesive, design, layout and use of space.

Part 12 of the NPPF attaches great importance on good design and seeks to promote 
development which is appropriate in terms of overall scale, massing, height, landscaping, 
layout, materials and access in relation to neighbouring buildings and the local area more 
generally.  It further states that ‘permission should be refused for development of poor design 
that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an 
area and the way it functions’.

The National Design Guide (October 2019) addresses the question of how we recognise 
well-designed places, by outlining and illustrating the Government’s priorities for well-
designed places in the form of ten characteristics.  Well-designed places have individual 
characteristics which work together to create its physical Character. The ten characteristics 
help to nurture and sustain a sense of Community. They work to positively address 
environmental issues affecting Climate. They all contribute towards the cross-cutting themes 
for good design set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. It is considered that the 
policy context of CS23 is aligned with the principles of this Design Guide.

This application does not include appearance as part of the considerations, but it is important 
to ensure the appropriate planning conditions are attached to the outline planning 
permission to ensure both design quality and unity across the site.  For this reason it is 
recommended conditions are attached to ensure that any reserved matters application 
needs to include a Design and Access Statement.  This approach and the quality of the 
indicative designs in the Design and Access Statement conform with the stated design aims 
in policy CS23.

It is considered that subject to conditions a suitable design can be achieved. This would 
need to be brought forward as part of a future Reserved Matters submission for the 
development to be considered to accord with the aims and objectives of saved policy EV/1 
of the Local Plan and Policies CS2 and CS23 of the Core Strategy.

Layout and the Indicative Masterplan

Saved Policy EV/1 of the Local Plan and Policies CS2, CS3, CS11, CS12, CS13, CS15, 
CS16 and CS17 of the Core Strategy are of particular relevance in seeking to establish high 
quality design and parameters for a future detailed submission. The indicative layout sets 
out a broad development parameter of development areas, open space and a road network. 
Comments received to the application have largely been focused on the principle of 
development but it is noted that a number of objections raise concerns with regard to 
the impact of the proposals on the amenity of existing residents.

Page 38



The indicative layout includes a number of key features which are set out in the applicant’s 
Design and Access Statement. These include the provision of a range of types, sustainable 
drainage proposals, a Green Corridor for the footpath and. The proposals also include new 
planting proposals.

The merits of the submitted indicative plan have been carefully considered the proposal 
accords with the concept masterplan in the Hawkins Brown report and as such it is 
considered policy compliant in terms of the flexible development framework.  In combination 
with this plan the applicants have submitted a parameters plan and a phasing plan – it is 
recommended that both plans are secured via a planning condition.   

In accordance with Policy CS23 and due to the key strategic location of the site it is 
considered appropriate to develop out the site in this order, so that the key frontage is 
developed first and that the ancillary hub is built out in the phased order.  

The site is undulating with the bigger maximum ridge heights located on the lower land and 
on land with a mature screening of trees along the southern boundary.  The details on the 
parameters plans are therefore considered acceptable.

For the reasons outlined above, it is considered that the indicative layout could be capable 
of delivering a high quality development.  This would need to be brought forward as part of 
a future Reserved Matters submission for the development to be considered to accord with 
the aims and objectives of saved policy EV/1 of the Local Plan and Policies CS2, CS3, 
CS11, CS12, CS13, CS16, and CS17 of the Core Strategy.

Landscape Impact

Policies CS2, CS11, and CS12 of the Core Strategy are of particular relevance alongside 
saved Policy CT/4 of the Local Plan. Policy CS2 seeks to ensure that development respects 
the site’s context in terms of the wider character of the area.

Policy CS11 seeks to support and protect landscape and countryside by requiring new 
development to protect landscape character and to reinforce a sense of place and local 
distinctiveness by taking account of relevant local Landscape Character Assessments.  
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states at part a) that planning policies and decisions should 
protect and enhance valued landscapes and goes on to clarify that this should be in a 
manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the development 
plan. Part b) states that planning policies and decisions should recognise the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside.  Paragraph 172 then states:  “Great weight should 
be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the 
Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of 
protection in relation to these issues”.

In relation to landscape matters CS 23 states that the Science and Enterprise Park will 
deliver a landscaped campus that:

 integrates   with   the   sensitive   landscape  and   respects   its character, 
biodiversity and appearance in accordance with Policy CS11 and CS13;

Page 39



 retains 40% of the overall site area for green infrastructure, designed to 
maintain key linkages across the Site connecting into the surrounding 
network in accordance with Policy CS11 and CS12;

 provides high quality design and innovation in the form and layout of the 
development, buildings and green space in accordance with Policy CS2;

 provides genuine choice to walk and cycle and is well connected to public 
transport networks in accordance with Policy CS17.

The application site comprises agricultural fields, with associated hedgerow boundaries. 
Mature trees are present throughout the field boundary hedgerows. A single linear belt of 
woodland extends north-south through the site. Burleigh Brook flows west to east through 
the Site and forms a section of the southern boundary where it adjoins the golf course.  The 
application site is within an undesignated landscape with no special protected status.  The 
application site is not subject to any national landscape designations. Locally the northern 
part of the application site is designated as an Urban Fringe Green Infrastructure 
Enhancement Zone. 

Chapter 6 of the supporting Environmental Assessment contains a detailed landscape and 
visual assessment of the site and surrounding area and summarises the visual baseline as 
follows:

 Northerly views from the residential edge of Nanpantan (Viewpoint 8) are 
largely restricted by existing vegetation along the footpath leading to 
Longcliffe Golf Club. 

 A small number of properties on higher ground on Snell’s Nook Lane and 
on Nanpantan Road would potentially have views across part of the Site.

 Westerly views from the existing western residential edge of Loughborough 
are largely restricted by mature woodland and / or landform.

 A combination of localised topography and vegetation occurs within 
Shepshed’s urban fringe and along the M1 corridor.  This prevents any 
significant easterly views from existing residential properties in Shepshed 
across to the Site.

 There are views from Snell’s Nook Lane across the Site, where it is also 
possible to glimpse the Temple of Venus and the White Lodge.

 Southerly views into the Site from the A512 (T) (between M1 Junction 23 
and Snells Nook Lane) are partially filtered by tree belts along the highway. 
Many of these trees and hedgerows will be removed as part of highway 
widening and improvement works on the A512 (and will be replaced by the 
landscape mitigation).

 There are also various views across parts of the Site available from the 
existing public right of way which passes through Longcliffe Golf Course 
from Nanpantan.

 Northerly views from Nanpantan Road are available in sections where the 
hedgerow is cut low as the road user emerges from the surrounding 
woodland. Views across part of the Site are possible, in conjunction with 
views towards Garendon Park.

The overall conclusion of Landscape and Visual Assessment of the Environmental 
Assessment concludes: “The Proposed Development has been developed in a manner that 
takes account of the various published landscape and green infrastructure studies and the 
relevant planning policy context. The resultant scheme will establish an appropriate 

Page 40



development and landscape solution and will over time successfully assimilate with this 
particular part of the existing settlement edge.”

It is considered that the assessment of the landscape classification, the topography, the 
sensitivity and mitigation detailed are appropriate and in accordance with the guidelines.  
The site is allocated for a business park within the Core Strategy and as such there is an 
understanding that this site would be developed, as opposed to a non-allocated site.  Policy 
CS23 has a very clear policy structure to deliver development that accords with the local 
landscape and follows the established principles of phase 1 and 2 of the Science Park 
principles of a high proportion of green infrastructure.  It is considered that the proposal has 
the potential to achieve these aims with the planning conditions [and S106 obligations] 
suggested in recommendation A and B. 

It is considered that subject to planning conditions a suitable design and layout can be 
achieved that balances the existing landscape conditions with further mitigation. This would 
need to be brought forward as part of a future Reserved Matters submission for the 
development to be considered to accord with the aims and objectives of saved policy EV/1 
of the Local Plan and Policies CS2 and CS23 of the Core Strategy.

Long term Management of Open Space & Green Infrastructure

Local Plan and Policies CS2, CS11, CS12 and CS15 of the Core Strategy seek to ensure 
that appropriate designs and layout are provided which deliver high quality design and the 
provision of appropriate green infrastructure is also a relevant consideration in this context.

Policy CS11 seeks to support and protect landscape and countryside by requiring new 
development to protect landscape character and to reinforce a sense of place and local 
distinctiveness by taking account of relevant local Landscape Character Assessments.

It is noted that East Midlands Airport do not raise objections to the planning application but 
have asked for conditions to be attached relating to potential bird strike.  Such a condition 
is detailed in recommendation but the key concern relates to new areas of open water which 
relates specifically to the management of the landscape but also to the provision of floor 
attenuation measures.  It is for this reason that the proposed bird strike measures condition 
relates to a site wide matter for any reserved matters application.

In this respect the relevant bullet point of CS23 states that the new science and enterprise 
park: “retains 40% of the overall site area for green infrastructure, designed to maintain key 
linkages across the site connecting into the surrounding network in accordance with Policy 
CS11 and CS12”.  The parameters plan and indicative masterplan show compliance with 
this stated aim.  Planning conditions are recommended which seek compliance with this 
important Green Infrastructure aspiration.  S106 Agreement heads of terms will secure the 
setting up of a maintenance company to manage the site’s wide green infrastructure and 
landscaping.  It is therefore considered that the planning framework is in place to ensure the 
long term management of open space & green infrastructure.

Loss of Agricultural Land

Page 41



NPPF paragraph 170 seeks to enhance the natural and local environment by a number of 
factors including:  “recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the 
wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the economic and 
other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and loss of trees and 
woodland.”

Annex 2 of the NPPF advises that the best and most versatile agricultural land is land in 
Grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land Classification.  Footnote 53 of the NPPF notes 
that “where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, 
areas of poorer quality should be preferred to those of higher quality.”

The application site comprises of seven fields which are in a mix of arable and grassland 
use, with the development involving the loss of approximately 39 hectares of agricultural 
land, of which approximately 33 hectares is identified as best and most versatile agricultural 
land.  The Agricultural Land Classification Survey (ALC) categorises land from grade 1 to 5 
but there is no post 1988 data for this and as such the applicant has commissioned a review 
of the ALC.  The development would take up approximately 3% by area of Grade 1 land; 
51% of Grade 2 land, 29% of Grade 3a land in combination an assessment of significance 
was undertaken and the significance of effects then determined by the interaction of 
magnitude and sensitivity.

The loss of 33 hectares of “best and most versatile agricultural land” is of Moderate 
Significance and therefore in terms of Environmental Impact Assessment is ‘Significant’.  
The development of these fields was a consideration in the allocation of the site for the 
Science and Enterprise Park in the Core Strategy.  The siting of the access, the indicative 
layout and green infrastructure show that the existing field boundaries have where possible 
been retained.  With the further requirements of Policy CS23 and with the suggested 
conditions, it is considered that the proposal accords with the aims of Policies CS11, CS12, 
CS13 and CS23.

Flooding and Drainage

Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy encourages sustainable design and construction and 
directing development to locations within the Borough at the lowest risk of flooding, 
supporting developments which reduce flood risk elsewhere, and requiring new 
developments to manage surface water run off with no net increase in the rate of surface 
water runoff for Greenfield sites. A number of residents have raised the capacity of the 
drainage network to cope with the additional infrastructure. In this respect the comments of 
the Lead Local Flood Authority and Severn Trent are noted and the planning conditions 
they suggest are positively worded so that additional work is not needed in the area (i.e. off-
site works outside the control of the applicant). The inclusion of sustainable drainage 
systems and their scope are considered to be acceptable to both consultees and can be 
secured by condition.

Paragraph 163 of the NPPF requires local planning authorities to ensure that, when 
determining planning applications, flood risk is not increased elsewhere and to only consider 
development in areas of flood risk where, informed by a site-specific flood risk assessment, 
will not put the users of the development at risk.

Page 42



The majority of the Application Site lies within Flood Zone 1, (Low Probability), land 
assessed as having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of river or sea flooding (<0.1%). 
Flood Zones 2 (Medium Probability) and 3 (High Probability) are present within the 
Application Site however these are confined to a corridor surrounding the watercourse 
known as the Burleigh Brook.

The Hydrology, Flood Risk and Drainage chapter of the Environmental Statement confirm 
the following:

 Flood Risk.  Finished floor levels are designed to remove the development 
from the predicted floodplain. Therefore the effect is considered negligible.

 Surface Water and Groundwater Resources and Quality.  There is currently 
limited potential for the site to interact with the designated groundwater 
body.  The proposed development is not expected to cause significant 
change to this regard. Consequently, the effect is considered to be 
negligible.

 Surface Water Drainage.  The implementation of a drainage strategy will 
provide mitigation by design.  Providing a reduction in surface water runoff 
rates compared to the existing and attenuating water up to the 1 in 100yr 
plus climate change event is considered to be minor beneficial.

 Foul Water Drainage.  Foul water will be pumped to connect to the existing 
network to the north. Works required to enable a connection to the north will 
be further established once planning permission is granted. Severn Trent 
Water as regulatory water authority will ensure working with the developer 
that a connection can be made with no detriment to the existing sewer 
network. Consequently, the effect is considered to be negligible.

 Overall Conclusion.  The implementation of appropriate mitigation 
measures reduces any adverse effects of the Proposed Development.  It is 
considered that any potential effects arising from both the construction and 
operational phase of the development will be negligible or minor beneficial 
following the implementation of appropriate mitigation.  

The comments of the Lead Local Flood Authority and Environment Agency have been noted 
and carefully considered. Overall it is considered that there would be no sustainable reason, 
subject to appropriate conditions, why a development could not be brought forward at the 
reserved matters stage that could accord with the requirements of Policy CS16 of the Core 
Strategy and the aims and objectives of the NPPF.

Ecology Wildlife and Trees

Policy CS13 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure protected species are not harmed as a 
result of development proposals and wherever possible they should seek to enhance 
ecological benefit through landscape and drainage solutions. Saved Policy EV/1 of the Local 
Plan and Policies CS2, CS11, CS12 and CS15 of the Core Strategy seek to ensure that 
appropriate designs and layout are provided which deliver high quality design and the 
provision of appropriate green infrastructure is also a relevant consideration in this context. 
The Council’s Senior Ecologist has reviewed the application and the supporting documents.

Chapter 7 of the Environmental Statement relates to Biodiversity and includes a phase 1 
habitat plan, an ecological appraisal, an arboricultural assessment, bat report, great crested 
newt report, badger survey report, bird report and biodiversity management plan. 

Page 43



The   Town   and   Country   Planning   (Environmental Impact   Assessment) Regulations 
2017 (as amended) requires that attention be paid to likely significant effects. These may 
be: Direct or indirect; Short or long-term; Intermittent, periodic or permanent; and 
Cumulative.  The Planning Practice Guidance provides additional detail and guidance on 
aspects of the Framework.  In respect of the Natural Environment, the PPG places additional 
emphasis on  biodiversity enhancement  and  highlights  the  importance  of  ecological  
networks  an d landscape habitat features.

No   statutory   designated   sites   of   international   nature   conservation importance were 
located within the search area. A single site of national nature conservation importance was 
located approximately 750m south-east of  the  application site  boundary;  Beacon  Hill,  
Hangingstone  and  Outwoods  Site  of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). The site is 
designated as it provides some of Leicestershire’s best breeding bird habitat, as well as 
comprising stands of ancient alder, acidic grassland, secondary oak/birch woodland, ancient 
woodland, streams, marsh and ponds which support breeding palmate newts and large 
numbers of badger.

Two locally designated sites of nature conservation importance were located partially within 
the Application Site. Charnwood Canal and Woodland Strip Potential LWS and Snell’s Nook 
and Burleigh Brook, Hedges and Trees Candidate LWS are designated for their Natural 
Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC) and Local Biodiversity Action Plan 
(LBAP) habitats including, native broadleaved woodland, opening running water and veteran 
trees.

The following are the key findings from the survey works undertaken:
 No bat roosts were identified within the site, although habitats present i.e. 

woodland, hedgerows, Burleigh Brook and scattered trees provided 
foraging and commuting habitats for a range of bat species.

 No ponds or areas of standing water suitable for breeding great crested 
newts were located within the site boundary, however suitable terrestrial 
habitats  were  present  in  the  form  of  woodland,  hedgerows,  trees/tree 
groups and bankside habitats of Burleigh Brook, although as a whole this 
was  considered  to  be  a  partial  barrier  to  the  dispersal  of  GCN.  Aquatic 
surveys of four off-site ponds (P1-P4) found a medium population of GCN 
(peak count of 16) present in P3 three only.

 A total of eight badger setts (S1-S8) were located within the site boundary, 
with a further sett (S9) located 100m to the south within the adjoining golf 
course.  The site as a whole provided suitable foraging and commuting 
habitat for badger.

 A number of notable bird species were recorded during the breeding bird 
survey and winter scoping survey. All species were indicative of the habitat 
types present, which were common to the local area and wider within 
Leicestershire.

Chapter 7 of the Environmental Assessment concludes that the development will have little 
overall effect on the on-site habitats or its protected/notable species as long as it proceeds 
as per the mitigation measures identified.

Page 44



The Ecological appraisal includes a robust objective assessment of the potential value of 
habitats within the proposed open space proposals on the indicative masterplan appropriate.   
Overall it is considered that there would be no sustainable reason, subject to appropriate 
conditions, why a development could not be brought forward at the reserved matters stage 
that could accord with the requirements of Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy and the aims 
and objectives of the NPPF.

Retail Impact

Core Strategy policy CS9: Town Centres and Retail requires impact assessments for 
proposals for main town centre uses in edge of centre or out of centre locations where the 
gross floor space proposed is above 1,000 sqm in Loughborough.

Policy CS23 provides for appropriate ancillary uses to serve the Science and Enterprise 
Park and requires that any main town centre uses are in accordance with Policy CS9.

The NPPF at paragraph 89 lists those factors that should be considered as part of an impact 
assessment:

 the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and 
private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the 
proposal; and 

 the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local 
consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail catchment 
(as applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).

The NPPF at para 90 states that: “Where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test or 
is likely to have significant adverse impact on one or more of the considerations in paragraph 
89, it should be refused”.

The Council has received two statements from applicant regarding town centre uses:
• Statement received on June 2019 covering retail uses
• Statement received August 2019 covering other town centre uses, including food and 

drink, gym and hotel uses

The Planning Practice Guidance refers to the methodology for retail impact assessment at 
Paragraph: 017 Reference ID: 2b-017-20140306. Revision date: 06 03 2014.  The Borough 
Council have compared the retail statement against the above PPG, and consider it to be a 
reasonable and proportionate response.

The proposals include provision for up to 800m2 (gross) of retail floor space which it is 
envisaged to include a small convenience store of up to 400m2 (gross) alongside small 
scale retail units to be used for retail service uses and/or small-scale comparison goods 
units.   The Borough Council consider the proposed retail unit sizes are appropriate size to 
serve the functions of a Science & Enterprise Park without drawing trade from an extensive 
area, it is recommended a condition is included if members are minded to approve the 
planning application onto any planning approval to secure compliance with Policy CS23 and 
CS9.

Page 45



An assessment of the impact of the vitality and viability of centres in the catchment of LSEP 
has also been carried out and the Borough Council consider that the proposal is reasonable 
in this aspect.

In conclusion the size of the retail provision is broadly in line with the policy aspiration for 
the LSEP as it can be controlled through condition.  Further to this with the S106 Agreement 
controlling the uses and the suggested obligations, overall the proposal is considered 
acceptable in this regard.

Relationship to Neighbouring Properties

Saved Policy EV/1 of the Local Plan and Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy are material 
considerations in this respect. As stated above, at this outline stage, the indicative 
masterplan does not form part of the application proposal but the parameters plan does.  

The Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the submitted data submitted in support of 
the application in relation to noise, air quality, road traffic emissions and ground 
contamination Based on the information presented and with the implementation of the 
impact avoidance and mitigation measures proposed, the potential risks associated with the 
construction and operation of the proposed development were assessed as being “not 
significant”.  The necessary controls are therefore in place to ensure the amenity of existing 
residents are protected in these matters.  

The comments from objectors and nearby residents in relation to impact from the additional 
traffic are noted.  With the conditions suggested by the LHA relating to a site wide travel plan 
and Construction Management Plan it is considered that the proposal would protect the 
amenity of nearby residents in this respect.

Overall it is considered that issues of concern raised on this aspect of the proposals could 
be designed out at the reserved matters stage and that the proposals accord  with  saved  
Policy  EV/1  of  the  Local  Plan  and  Policy  CS2  of  the  Core Strategy.

S106 developer contributions

Policies CS3, CS13, CS15, CS17  and  CS24 of the Core Strategy requires the delivery 
of appropriate infrastructure to meet the aspirations of sustainable development either on 
site or through appropriate contribution towards infrastructure off-site relating to a range of 
services. This would be in accordance with the Framework and Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) Regulations to mitigate to the impact of the proposals.

Work has commenced on the scope of a draft s106 Legal agreement and the applicant has 
been made aware of the contributions set out below. The s106 agreement has not been 
completed but recommendation A seeks delegated powers to and head of Strategic Support 
to pursue and complete the S106 legal agreement on the basis of the draft heads of terms 
listed and then to issue the planning decision based on the conditions lusted in 
recommendation B.  It is considered the heads of terms are CIL compliant as they satisfy 
the three tests in the legislation.

Other issues

Page 46



Concerns have been raised verbally by East Midlands Airport in relation to increased risk of 
bird strikes.  The concerns relate to possible areas of open water that would be contained 
within the proposed drainage scheme for the site.  This is an outline application and as such 
the detailed design of the Sustainable Drainage is not required.  The sustainable drainage 
will form part of the wider landscape and future management and maintenance, including 
monitoring of birds, will be the responsibility of the management company.   

Conclusion and Planning Balance

The application proposals seek outline planning permission for an extension to the LSEP 
with the points of access detailed and all other matters retained for further reserved matters 
applications.  The site is allocated for this use in the adopted Core Strategy with a detailed 
list of policy requirements.  

Having carefully considered the application submission, all consultation responses and the 
views of neighbouring and nearby residents and the ward member, it is considered that the 
proposals accord to  planning policy having taken  into account relevant policies of the 
Development Plan, including policies CS1, CS2, CS3, CS9, CS11, CS12, CS13, CS14, 
CS15, CS16, CS17, CS18, CS23, CS24 and CS25 of the Core Strategy and saved policies 
ST/2, CT/1, CT/2, CT/4, EV/1 and TR/18 of the Local Plan and the associated guidance and 
material  considerations  including  and  the  aims  and  objectives  of  the  National Planning 
Policy Framework and associated guidance and Section 66(1) and Section 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

RECOMMENDATION A:-

That authority is given to the head of Planning and Regeneration and the Head of 
Strategic Support to enter into an agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to secure improvements, on terms to be finalised by the parties, as set 
out below:

1. Travel Packs to inform employees, one per employee, from first occupation what 
sustainable travel choices are in the surrounding area including incentives to 
encourage changes in travel behaviour towards the greater use of sustainable travel 
modes can be supplied through the County Council at (average) £52.85 per pack

2. 6 month bus passes, one per employee (2 application forms to be included in Travel 
Packs and funded by the developer); to encourage new residents and employees to 
use bus services, to establish changes in travel behaviour from first occupation and 
promote usage of sustainable travel modes other than the car (can be supplied 
through the County Council at (average) £360.00 per pass – NOTE it is very unlikely 
that a development will get 100% take-up of passes.

3. A contribution of £11,337.50 for the monitoring of the Site Wide Travel Plan and the 
effects of the development using the County Council’s monitoring programme 
(currently STARS for).

4. Prior to the occupation of 30% of development a contribution of £289,762.88 towards 
improvements at the Nanpantan Road/ Snell’s Nook Lane signal junction.

5. Delivery of the A512 roundabout and site access, reservation of the land required for 
the duelling of the A512 associated with the access and roundabout works to be 
completed in accordance with signed S278 (Highways Act 1980) signed on the 22nd 
July 2019 and referenced HTWMT/4033 and contribution of £1.8m

Page 47



6. As indicated on the master plan ref:  10-161-001, MP0-001 Rev P, the land around 
the two new points of access onto Snells Nook Lane to be reserved to allow the 
junctions to be fully upgraded to roundabouts at a future date should that be deemed 
necessary and not developed out in any way that would negate this.  

7. At the request of the Local Highway Authority to pay the costs associated with a 
Traffic Regulation Order submitted by the LHA and relating to works to Snells Nook 
Lane between the southern access to site on Snells Nook Lane and the junction with 
Snells Nook Lane and the A512 junction to the north. 

8. Control of the uses and restriction of any changes within that use class (including to 
restrict knowledge-based uses within B1 and B2).

9. Control of the use to conform to the floor area for that use specified in the DAS and 
use for the TA.

10.A definition of ‘Knowledge based sector’.  To be cross referenced with a condition 
that restricts the B1 and B2 uses to that defined in the S106.

11.Phasing of the development and the proportionate build out of the ‘ancillary’ hub.
12.The setting up of a management company to manage and maintain the green 

infrastructure and public open space within the site in perpetuity.  
13.An economic strategy that includes delivery of a percentage of skilled apprenticeships 

for the employment and construction uses on the site.
14.A monetary contribution to be agreed for monitoring of the development uses by 

officers of the Borough Council.

RECOMMENDATION B:-

That subject to the completion of the agreement in recommendation A above, planning 
permission be granted subject to the following conditions with authority given to the Head of 
Planning and Regeneration and the Head of Strategic Support to vary (including add or 
delete) the conditions and informative notes insofar as is necessary:

1. The first application for approval of reserved matters for the first Phase of the 
development (as detailed pursuant to the phasing programme in condition 5) shall be 
submitted no late than three years from the date of this permission and all subsequent 
reserved matters applications shall be submitted by no later than fifteen years from the 
date of this permission

REASON:  To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 1990.

2. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until approval of the 
following reserved matters for that part has been obtained in writing from the local 
planning authority:- 

a. layout, 

b. scale, 

c. appearance, and 

d. landscaping.

Page 48



REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004

3. The submissions for the approval of Reserved Matters to be made pursuant to the 
requirements of condition 2, shall be accompanied by a Design and Access Statement.

REASON: To enable the local planning authority, other stakeholders and the local 
community to understand the foundation and development of the design of the individual 
developments on the science and enterprise park, which the Development Plan 
anticipates will include buildings of a high standard of external appearance placed in a 
parkland setting to create a prestigious, high quality development on the edge of the 
Charnwood Forest and on one the main approaches to the town and to the university.

4. The development shall accord with the finished floor levels and ridge heights as detailed 
on drawing number:  P005 Rev H, dated October 2018 and prepared by Stephen George 
& Partners LLP.

REASON:  To ensure that the development accords with the requirements of CS1, CS2, 
CS11, CS12, CS13 and CS23 of the Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy.

5. The development shall accord with and follow the stated sequence of development in 
accordance with drawing number:  P006, dated October 2018 and prepared by Stephen 
George & Partners LLP.
 
REASON:  To ensure that the development accords with the requirements of CS1, CS2, 
CS9 and CS23 of the Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy.

6. The development hereby approved shall be used for businesses operating within or 
supporting the knowledge-based sector as defined in the accompanying S106 Legal 
Agreement.

REASON:  To ensure that the development accords with the aims of Policy CS23 of the 
Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy.

7.   The details required by condition 2 shall make provision for:

i). a landscape scheme for the Ashby Road frontage that is designed to complement 
and reflect the architectural principles expressed in the design and layout of the 
buildings and other operational development on the site of which it would be a part;

ii). a landscape treatment of the buffer zone adjacent to the Burleigh Brook and 
Holywell Wood that maximises the opportunity for wildlife habitat and biodiversity 
gain,

Page 49



iii). a landscape and ecological management plan, including long term design 
objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all 
landscaped areas within the plot or phase of development which is the subject of the 
reserved matters application,

iv). the exclusion of storm water balancing features from within the buffer zone 
referred to in ii). above.

REASON: To ensure that the development provides a landscape framework that 
responds to the need for complementary visual interest towards the main Ashby Road 
approach to the site and respect the need for sensitivity to the ecological constraints at 
the rear of the site and to enhance biodiversity in this area.

8. Submissions for the approval of Reserved Matters under the terms of condition 1 shall 
include details of measures to implement a range of sustainable energy technologies to 
seek to achieve a very good BREEAM rating, or better. The development hereby 
permitted shall not take place except with the inclusion of the measures approved

REASON: To make sure a sustainable form of development is provided.

9. Submissions for the approval of Reserved Matters under the terms of condition 1 shall 
include:

a. Details for bird strike avoidance in relation to any drainage lagoons or new 
open areas of water

b. Details of bird strike monitoring and review
c. Clarification that any external materials will not cause a glint and glare hazard.
d. If any solar or wind powered renewable energy schemes are proposed on site, 

clarification that this would not cause any aerodrome safeguarding issues 

REASON:  To ensure the development does not cause any aerodrome safeguarding 
issues for East Midlands Airport.  

10. Not more than 60% of the land area within the application site shall be taken up by 
operational works including buildings, hard surfaced areas, car parks, access roads and 
storage and service areas and each application for the Approval of Reserved Matters 
shall demonstrate this requirement. Hard surfacing associated with the enjoyment and 
use of the landscaped areas in the site, such as pathways, will be excluded from the 
60% referred to above.

REASON: To secure development where the landscape plays an important role in 
defining the high quality character of the development to accord with the broad intentions 
of Policy E/4 of the adopted Borough of Charnwood Local Plan and policy CS23 of the 
Charnwood Borough Local Plan Core Strategy.

11.No buildings shall be constructed within 8 metres of the Burleigh Brooks.

Page 50



REASON: To prevent an increased risk from flooding, to maintain bio-diversity along the 
brook courses and to allow access for maintenance. 

12.Prior to the commencement of development, the A512 site access arrangements and 
highway works shown on drawing number SNL-BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-108 (LCC 
drawing numbers MTP0037.000_J23E_H2_1_1 GA and MTP0037.000_J23E_H2_1_1-
2) shall be implemented in full.

REASON: To ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass each other 
clear of the highway, in a slow and controlled manner, in the interests of general highway 
safety, for construction traffic and in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019).

13.The development hereby permitted must not be commenced until such time as a 
scheme to provide appropriate floodplain compensation has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority.  The scheme shall be fully 
implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the scheme’s 
timing/phasing arrangements, or within any other period as may subsequently be 
agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.

Reason:  To ensure that there are no detrimental impacts to flood storage or flood flow 
routes.

14.The development hereby permitted must not be commenced until such time as a 
scheme for the final designs and maintenance arrangements for any culvert on that part 
of the site has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.  
The risk of blockage to the culverts and the resultant flood risk to the site should be 
assessed and presented within an updated Flood Risk Assessment.  The scheme shall 
be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the scheme’s 
timing/phasing arrangements, or within any other period as may subsequently be 
agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.

Reason:  To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future users.

15.The development hereby permitted must not be commenced until such time as a 
scheme to ensure that Finished Floor Levels are set a minimum of 600mm above the 
design flood height and including appropriate allowance for climate change has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.  The scheme shall 
be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the scheme’s 
timing/phasing arrangements, or within any other period as may subsequently be 
agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.

Reason:  To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future users.

16.The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as a scheme 
to treat and remove suspended solids from surface water run-off during construction 

Page 51



works has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved.  

Reason:  To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future users.

17.Prior to the development of any part of Phase 4 shall take place until a scheme for the 
treatment of the Public Right of Way within the application site shall be been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such a scheme shall include 
provision for management during construction, surfacing, width, structures, signing and 
landscaping in accordance with the principles set out in the Leicestershire County 
Council’s Guidance Notes for Developers. 

Reason: In the interests of amenity, safety and security of users of the Public Right(s) of 
Way in accordance with Paragraph 98 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

18.Prior to the occupation of Phase 1A, in accordance with the Phasing Plan, the northern 
access arrangements on Snells Nook Lane shown on SNL-BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-100 
Rev. P1 shall be implemented in full.

REASON: To ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass each other 
clear of the highway, in a slow and controlled manner, in the interests of general highway 
safety, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

19.Prior to the occupation of Phase 3, in accordance with the Phasing Plan, the southern 
access arrangements on Snells Nook Lane shown on SNL-BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-101 
P1. shall be implemented in full.

REASON: To mitigate the severe impacts of development traffic in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

20.Prior to the occupation of the development, the M1 Junction 23 works as shown on SNL- 
BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-107 and 108 (LCC drawing numbers 
MTP0037.000_J23E_H2_1_1 GA and MTP0037.000_J23E_H2_1_1-2) shall be 
implemented in full.

REASON: To mitigate the severe impacts of development traffic in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

21.Prior to the occupation of 50% of the development, the Ashby Road roundabout works 
as shown on SNL-BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-106 Rev. P1 shall be implemented in full.

REASON: To mitigate the severe impacts of development traffic in accordance with the
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

22.Prior to the occupation of 75% of the development, the Snells Nook Lane footway 
improvement works as shown on SNL-BWB-00-ZZ-DR-G-001 Rev. p1 and SNL-BWB-
GEN-XX-DR-TR-102 rev P1 shall be implemented in full.

Page 52



REASON: To mitigate the severe impacts of development traffic in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

23.No phase of development shall commence on the site until such time as a construction 
traffic management plan for that phase, including as a minimum detail of the routing of 
construction traffic, wheel cleansing facilities, location of construction compounds, 
construction access, vehicle parking facilities, and a timetable for their provision, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
construction of the development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and timetable.

REASON: To reduce the possibility of deleterious material (mud, stones etc.) being 
deposited in the highway and becoming a hazard for road users, to ensure that 
construction traffic does not use unsatisfactory roads and lead to on-street parking 
problems in the area.

24. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Site Wide Travel 
Plan which sets out actions and measures with quantifiable outputs and outcome targets 
including the appointment of a Travel Plan Coordinator has been submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the agreed Travel Plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: To reduce the need to travel by single occupancy vehicle and to promote the 
use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019).

25.Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 2 of Schedule 2, Article 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) no vehicular access gates, barriers, bollards, 
chains or other such obstructions shall be erected within a distance of 5 metres of the 
highway boundary, nor shall any be erected within a distance of 5 metres of the highway 
boundary unless hung to open away from the highway.

REASON: To enable a vehicle to stand clear of the highway in order to protect the free 
and safe passage of traffic including pedestrians in the public highway in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

26. Prior to the occupation of Phase 1A a Public Transport Strategic shall be submitted, 
agreed and implemented in full to provide a bus service to serve the development site. 
The bus services shall coincide with a minimum service provision of Monday-Friday 
services serving the site between 0700 to 1900 Monday to Friday operating at a 30-
minute frequency. The Public Transport Strategy will include new bus stop infrastructure 
within the application site associated which shall include:

 Bus stops;

 Bus shelters;

Page 53



 Facilitation of Real Time Information;

 Raised kerbs;

 Lighting; and

 Timetable information.

REASON: To reduce the need to travel by single occupancy vehicle and to promote the 
use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019) by minimising disruption on the motorway resulting from traffic 
entering and emerging from the application site and in the interests of road safety.

27.Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on impervious bases 
and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded compound shall 
be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there is multiple tankage, 
the compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or 
the combined capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels plus 10%. All filling points, 
associated pipework, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund 
or have separate secondary containment. The drainage system of the bund shall be 
sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata. Associated 
pipework shall be located above ground and protected from accidental damage. All filling 
points and tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets shall be detailed to discharge downwards 
into the bund.

REASON: To prevent pollution of the water environment.

28.Before any building is first occupied, details of all external lighting to be incorporated into 
that development shall be submitted for the approval of the local planning authority. No 
external lighting, other than that approved under the terms of this condition, shall be 
erected or installed.

REASON: To give the local planning authority the opportunity to consider the details in 
the interests of visual amenity, highway safety and the effect on the movements of bats 
in the locality.

29.No phase of development shall commence on the site until such time as a construction 
environment management plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The construction of the development shall thereafter be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and timetable.

REASON: To ensure the development accords with the ecological aims of Policies CS11, 
CS12 and CS13 of the Charnwood Borough Local Plan Core Strategy.

30.Before any phase of development hereby approved is commenced, a scheme of noise 
attenuation measures designed to protect nearby premises from noise nuisance shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in accordance with 

Page 54



the measures identified in section 11 of the Environmental Statement.  The approved 
scheme of noise attenuation measures shall thereafter be installed prior to first use of the 
development and shall be retained as such for the life of the development, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  In the interests of public amenity and in accordance with Policies CS2 and 
CS23 of the Charnwood Borough Local Plan Core Strategy.

INFORMATION NOTES TO THE APPLICANT

i. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES RELEVANT TO THIS DEVELOPMENT - Policies 
CS1, CS2, CS3, CS9, CS11, CS12, CS13, CS14, CS15, CS16, CS17, CS18, CS23, 
CS24 and CS25 of the Charnwood Local Plan (2011-2028) Core Strategy and 
Policies ST/2, EV/1, CT/1, CT/2 and TR/18 of the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan 
and the relevant provisions of the Quorn Neighbourhood Plan have been taken  into  
account  in  the  determination  of  this  application.  The proposed development 
complies with the requirements of these policies and there are no other material 
considerations which are of significant weight in reaching a decision on this 
application.

ii. Planning permission has been granted for this development because the Council has 
determined that, although representations have been received against the proposal, 
it is generally in accord with the terms of the above-mentioned   policies   and   the   
Council's   adopted Supplementary Planning Document  'Leading in Design' and, 
therefore, no harm would arise such as to warrant refusal of planning permission.

iii. Discussion was undertaken with the applicant to seek an acceptable solution in 
making this decision. The Local Planning Authority has therefore acted pro-actively 
to secure a sustainable form of development in line with the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with The 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015.

iv. Planning Permission does not give you approval to work on the public highway. To 
carry out off-site works associated with this planning permission, separate approval 
must first be obtained from Leicestershire County Council as Local Highway 
Authority. This will take the form of a section 278 agreement. It is strongly 
recommended that you make contact with Leicestershire County Council at the 
earliest opportunity to allow time for the process to be completed. The Local Highway 
Authority reserve the right to charge commuted sums in respect of ongoing 
maintenance where the item in question is above and beyond what is required for the 
safe and satisfactory functioning of the highway. For further information please refer 
to the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide which is available at 
https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/lhdg

v. If the roads within the proposed development are to be offered for adoption by the 
Local Highway Authority, the Developer will be required to enter into an agreement 

Page 55

https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/lhdg


under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. Detailed plans will need to be submitted 
and approved, the Agreement signed and all sureties and fees paid prior to the 
commencement of development. The Local Highway Authority reserve the right to 
charge commuted sums in respect of ongoing maintenance where the item in 
question is above and beyond what is required for the safe and satisfactory 
functioning of the highway. For further information please refer to the Leicestershire 
Highway Design Guide which is available at 
https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/lhdg

vi. To erect temporary directional signage you must seek prior approval from the Local 
Highway Authority in the first instance (telephone 0116 305 0001).

vii. Any facilities, above ground, for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited 
on impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the 
bunded compound should be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. 
All filling points, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund. 
The drainage system of the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any 
watercourse, land or underground strata.  Associated pipework should be located 
above ground and protected from accidental damage.  All filling points and tank 
overflow pipe outlets should be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund. 

viii. Highways England’s understanding is that the improvement scheme at M1 J23 is to 
be part- funded by developer contributions. The contributions are to be managed by 
Leicestershire County Council (LCC). The determination of the level of contributions 
from each development will be a matter for LCC and any questions in this regard 
should be addressed to Charnwood Borough Council and LCC.

ix. The site lies within 10km of East Midlands Airport and any tall Equipment / Cranes 
used on site will require a permit from EMA Safeguarding, applications via the EMA 
Safeguarding  Website: https://www.eastmidlandsairport.com/about-us/operational-
documents/safeguarding/

Page 56

https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/lhdg


Page 57



            
                     Appendix 1

Nigel Gould
Principal Planning Officer 
Charnwood Borough Council 
Southfields
Southfields Road
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 2TN

Planning Ref:   P/19/0524/2

Our Ref:           NTH2084

Contact:          Paul Wilson
Mobile No:       07889 995471

Date:                4 December 2019

Dear Nigel

WILSON BOWDEN DEVELOPMENTS SNELL’S NOOK LANE PROPOSED SCIENCE AND ENTERPRISE 
PARK DEVELOPMENT, LOUGHBOROUGH – PLANNING COMMITTEE RESPONSE

It is understood that the above application was deferred at the Charnwood Borough Council 
Planning Committee meeting on 21 November 2019, primarily for further consideration of 
highway / traffic related matters. It is understood that this centred on whether one of the 
proposed accesses access into the site on the western side of Snell’s Nook Lane could be 
removed. This request has therefore been given further consideration and we present our 
findings in this letter.

In summary, three access points are proposed to the site; the main one via a signal controlled 
roundabout on the A512 to the north, which is currently being constructed, and two on Snell’s 
Nook Lane. In relation to the northern access point on Snell’s Nook Lane, we are of the 
opinion that this should not be removed/altered as it is proposed to be:
i)     The focal point for the Loughborough Science and Enterprise Park as a whole. This would

form the ‘heart’ of the Park and consist of a central hub that straddles Snell’s Nook Lane,
thereby joining the eastern and western part of the site.

ii)    Key from a public transport prospective to route between the two sites.

Consideration has therefore been given to the removal of the southern access only, which is 
proposed to provide the priority for traffic travelling to and from Nanpantan and the A512. As 
a result, if the southern access was removed, and the priority for traffic remained on Snell’s 
Nook Lane, it is considered that the following would occur:

Page 58



            
                     Appendix 1

i) all traffic that would have turned left in and out of the southern access on Snell’s Nook 
Lane and head towards the Snell’s Nook Lane/Ashby Lane signal controlled junction 
would redistribute and use the main access  on  the A512    instead, because of  the 
proposed form of the internal site layout

ii)    all traffic that would have turned right in and out of the southern access on Snell’s Nook
Lane and head towards the Nanpantan crossroads would use the northern access on
Snell’s Nook Lane instead.

As a result of the above redistribution assumptions:
i) The main site access on the A512 would have slightly more vehicles routing through the 

junction. However, the increase in vehicles would not significantly affect the operation of
it.

ii) The northern site access on Snell’s Nook Lane would have slightly more vehicles routing 
through it, but the increase in flows would not affect the modelling summary presented in
the technical work submitted within the planning application and would still operate 
within capacity.

iii) The Snell’s Nook Lane/Ashby Road signal controlled junction would have a lower amount 
of vehicles turning in/out from Snell’s Nook Lane, but more ahead movements on Ashby 
Road, as there would be more vehicles heading to/from to sites access on the A512. The 
junction could operate slightly worse as a result.

In conclusion, regardless of the suggested removal of any access points on Snell’s Nook Lane, 
there would be no change to the distribution of traffic to and from the site, other than at the 
three junctions detailed above. The removal of the southern access would not result in any 
reduction  in  any  development  traffic  at  the  Nanpantan  crossroads  junction  either,  the 
impact of which would be mitigated by way of a financial contribution as agreed with 
yourselves and LCC. It would also remove the opportunity to reduce traffic along Snell’s Nook 
Lane and hence prejudice the opportunity to provide sustainable links between the eastern 
and western sections of the wider park via the proposed hub.

As a result of the above, it is concluded that the northern site access should not be removed, 
because it would prejudice the proposed hub connecting the eastern and western part of 
the wide Science and Enterprise Park site and diminish the public transport options available 
to serve the site. It is also concluded that any removal of the southern access is not a 
desirable outcome because it:
i)     would not result in  any improvements to the operation of  Snell’s Nook Lane or  the

Nanpantan crossroads
ii) could result in a deterioration in the operation of the Snell’s Nook Lane/Ashby Roads 

signal controlled junction
iii)    could also prejudice the proposed hub at the northern access
iv)   could reduce longer term public transport options from the south
v) would require further assessment work to fully assess the impact of the removal of the 

southern access, for no real purpose given that its removal is not considered to be a
desirable outcome.

Page 59



            
                     Appendix 1

We would therefore be grateful if Charnwood Borough Council and Leicestershire County 
Council would take into consideration the above when reviewing the request to potentially 
remove one of the proposed accesses into the site on Snell’s Nook Lane. Should you have 
any queries when reviewing the contents of this letter please do not hesitate to contact us.

Yours sincerely

Paul Wilson
Operations Director

cc.       David Ward – Wilson Bowden Developments Ltd
David Onions – Pegasus Planning Group

Page 60



Item No. 2

Application Reference Number P/19/0876/2

Application Type: Full Date Valid: 18/04/2019
Applicant: Mr Chris Jennison
Proposal: Demolition of existing care home and construction of new 33 

bed care home and associated works (Class C2). 
Location: Abbeyfield

190 Ashby Road
Loughborough
LE11 3AG

Parish: Loughborough Ward: Loughborough 
Southfields

Case Officer: Louise Winson Tel No: 01509 634742

This application is referred to the Plans Committee at the request of Cllr Parton for the 
following reasons:

 Loss of a building in a conservation area
 The balance of losing a building of architectural character in a conservation area 

versus construction of critically needed specialist dementia care centre must be 
considered with utmost care. 

Description of the Site

The application site is within the development limits to Loughborough. Abbeyfield is a large 
detached Victorian villa building situated along the south side of Ashby Road and within the 
Ashby Road Conservation Area. Originally a single large dwelling, it is now in use as a 
residential home and has been variously altered and extended over time. 

The built environment surrounding the site is largely made up of substantial detached two 
and three storey buildings situated in generous plots of land. The adjacent buildings on 
either side of the site are large student halls of residence. C3 residential dwellings are 
situated opposite the site. The Abbeyfield care home site extends to the rear of the site, 
with a further care home building facing onto Westfield Drive. 

The application site boundaries consist of a mixture of brick walls and fencing. The 
northern (front) boundary is made up of a low-level red brick wall with the eastern and 
western boundaries consisting of fencing. There are a number of mature trees along the 
frontage of the site and along the eastern and western boundaries. Consent has 
previously been granted to carry out some works to the trees along the western and 
eastern boundaries. 

The site benefits from a small informal parking area to the front of the building 

Page 61



Description of the Application 

This amended application seeks consent for the demolition of the existing building and 
erection of a replacement 3 storey building for use as a 33 bedroom specialist dementia 
care facility. 

The building would offer a flat roofed contemporary design and be constructed from 
contrasting materials of brick, metal sheet cladding and glazing. The replacement building 
would have a larger footprint and be set slightly back further into the site than the existing 
property. 

The submitted application makes provision for a formalised parking area to the front of the 
site to provide 6 off-street parking spaces. 

The local planning authority is also considering a separate application under ref. 
P/19/0877/2 for the provision of a link corridor to the rear of the site. This corridor would 
link the new building with the other Abbeyfield care home on the Westfield Drive side and 
would be used for the movement of items such as food and laundry between the facilities. 
This associated application has not been called into the Plans Committee for 
determination; however, it is relevant to this item presented to the Committee.  

The following documents accompany the application:

 Drawing No. L1321 50 Rev A – Proposed Ground Floor Plan
 Drawing No. L1321 51 Rev A – Proposed First and Second Floor Plan
 Drawing No. L1321 52 Rev A – Proposed Elevations
 Drawing No. L1321 53 Rev A – Proposed Elevations
 Drawing No. 19.1420.002 Rev A – Tree Protection Plan 
 Planning, Design & Access and Heritage Statement 
 Supplementary Planning and Heritage Statement dated 19th August 2019
 Arboricultural Implication Assessment 19.1420.R1A

Development Plan Policies 

Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted 9 November 2015)

The following policies are relevant to this application:

Policy CS1 - Development Strategy –identifies Loughborough as a principle urban area for 
growth. 

Policy CS2 – High Quality Design requires developments to make a positive contribution 
to Charnwood, reinforcing a sense of place. Development should respect and enhance the 
character of the area, having regard to scale, massing, height, landscape, layout, 
materials and access arrangements; protect the amenity of people who live or work 
nearby, provide attractive well-managed public and private spaces; well defined and 
legible streets and spaces and reduce their impact on climate change.

Policy CS3 – Strategic Housing Needs supports an appropriate housing mix for the 
Borough, including type, size and tenure

Page 62



Policy CS11 – Landscape and Countryside - seeks to protect the character of the 
landscape and countryside. It requires new development to protect landscape character, 
reinforce sense of place and local distinctiveness, tranquillity and to maintain separate 
identities of settlements.

Policy CS13 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity seeks to conserve and enhance the natural 
environment and to ensure development takes into account impact on recognised 
features.

Policy CS16 – Sustainable Construction and Energy supports sustainable design and 
construction techniques. It also encourages the effective use of land by reusing land that 
has been previously developed.

Policy CS14 – Heritage – seeks to preserve and enhance the Borough’s Heritage Assets. 

Policy CS 25 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development sets out a positive 
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in 
the NPPF.

Borough of Charnwood Local Plan (adopted 12 January 2004) (saved policies)

The saved policies relevant to this proposal include:

ST/2 - Limits to Development – sets out that built development will be confined to 
allocated sites and other land within identified Limits to Development.

Policy EV/1 – Design -seeks to ensure a high standard of design for developments, which, 
inter alia, respects and enhances the local environment, is of a design, layout, scale and 
mass compatible with the locality, and utilises materials appropriate to the locality.

Policy TR/18 - Parking Provision in New Development -states that planning permission will 
not be granted for development, unless off-street parking for vehicles, including cycles, 
and servicing arrangements are included, to secure highway safety and minimise harm to 
visual and local amenities.

Material considerations

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration in 
planning decisions. The Framework contains a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and defines 3 roles a development must fulfil in order to be sustainable:

· An economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is 
available in the right places to support growth and innovation

· A social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities by providing 
the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 

Page 63



generations, and by creating a high quality built development with accessible 
local services

· An environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, 
built and historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance

This web- b a s e d  resource provides supplemental guidance to the NPPF.  It 
provides advice on a range of topics including: design, housing need, housing land 
availability and viability. The sections relating to housing need and viability have recently 
been updated to reflect the 2018 NPPF.

National Design Guide

This guide illustrates how well-designed places that are beautiful, enduring and successful 
can be achieved in practice.

Leading in Design Supplementary Planning Document February 2006

This encourages and provides guidance on achieving high quality design in new 
development. It indicates that the Council will approach its judgments on the design of 
new development against the following main principles:

 Places for People – Successful developments contribute to the creation of 
distinctive places that provide a choice of housing and complementary facilities and 
activities nearby. Good design promotes diversity and choice through a mix of 
compatible developments and uses that work together to create viable places that 
respond to local needs. 

 Sustainable Places – Successful developments are able to adapt to improve their 
long-term viability and are built to cause the least possible harm to the environment. 
It also incorporates resource efficiency and renewable energy measures to take 
into account the long-term impact of a development. 

 Distinctive Places – Successful developments respond to their context.

Housing Supplementary Planning Document 
(2017)

The Housing SPD was adopted in May 2017 and provides guidance to support the Local 
Plan Core Policy CS3: Strategic Housing Needs. It provides advice relating to affordable 
housing and offers encouragement for specialist accommodation and extra care facilities 
where these address the needs of older people.

Leicestershire Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) – 
2017

HEDNA provides an up to date evidence base of local housing needs including an 
objectively assessed housing need figure to 2036 based on forecasts and an assessment 
of the recommended housing mix based on demographic changes over the same period. 
Whilst the objectively assessed need figure remains untested in a plan making 

Page 64



environment and needs to be considered in light of the standard housing methodology it 
is therefore not to be relied upon at the current time, the housing mix evidence can be 
accorded significant weight as it reflects known demographic changes. Section 9 of 
HEDNA provides evidence regarding the indicative need for specialist accommodation, 
which includes residential care housing,

The adopted Loughborough Ashby Road Conservation Area Character Appraisal

The appraisal sets out the special qualities of the Ashby Road Conservation Area and 
provides a framework for proposals for its preservation or enhancement. 

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Relevant Planning History 

Ref. Description Decision Date
P/76/1755/2 Use as Abbeyfield Home for elderly 

people with extra care
Granted Sept 1976

P/89/2205/2 Two-storey extension to side of home 
for four bedsits and two bathrooms and 
staff room, store and WC extension to 
front

Granted Feb 1989

P/05/0528/2 Raising of canopies and removal of 
secondary growth on 3 Lime and 2 Pine 
trees

Granted Apr 2016

P/15/1800/2 Re-pollarding of 1 lime tree Granted Sept 2015
P/16/0099/2 Demolition of existing 2 storey 4 

bedroom extension and construction of 
a new 3 storey 12 bedroom extension to 
care home. Alterations to existing 
building including new fire escape 
staircase and a covered walkway to 44 
Westfield Drive.

Refused Apr 2016

P/17/0422/2 Replacement of existing 2 storey annex 
with new 3 storey 18 bedroom annex 
with communal facilities, erection of fire 
escape and fenestration alterations.

Granted May 2017

Responses of Consultees

The table below sets out a summary of the responses received from the Consultees and 
local organisations.

Response From Comments
Leicestershire Highway 
Authority 

The Local Highway Authority advices that the impacts of the 
development on highway safety would not be unacceptable, 
and when considered cumulatively with other developments, 
the impacts on the road network would not be severe. 

Page 65



Leicestershire Lead Local 
Flood Authority

Advises that the application documents are insufficient and 
requests further information is submitted in relation to the 
drainage proposals for the site.

Storer and Ashby Road 
Residents Association

Object due to design concerns. The building would not make 
a positive contribution to the Conservation Area.

Haydon Residents 
Association

Object on design grounds, the building should reflect the 
Victorian style of the street scene. 

Full copies of all the correspondence received is available on the planning file.

Consideration of the Planning Issues 

The key issues in considering this application are considered to be:

 The Principle of the Development 
 Heritage
 Design and the Impact on Visual Amenity
 The Impact on Trees and Landscape 
 The Impact on Neighbouring Amenity
 Highways
 Ecology 
 Drainage

The Principle of the Development 

The starting point for decision making on all planning applications is that they must be 
made in accordance with the adopted development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The development plan for Charnwood comprises the Core Strategy 
and those saved policies within the Local Plan which have not been superseded by the 
Core Strategy.

The vision for the Borough as set out in the Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core 
Strategy (2015) confirms that by the end of the plan period Charnwood will be one of the 
most desirable places to live, work and visit in the East Midlands.  To achieve this 
development will have been managed to improve the economy, quality of life and the 
environment.

Policy CS1 is an expression of a sustainable growth pattern for the Borough.  It 
takes the form of a hierarchical, sequential approach guiding development first to the 
northern edge of Leicester, then to Loughborough and Shepshed before directing 
development to Service Centres and then Other Settlements. 

Saved policy ST/2 of the Local Plan acts as a counterpart to policy CS/1. This policy 
identifies the settlement boundaries and therefore carries weight as a policy to control the 
supply of development land. This is a brownfield site  within the defined limits for 
Loughborough as set out in policy ST/2.  Accordingly , development for housing is in 
accordance with the spatial strategy defined by CS1 and ST/2.  

Page 66



Policy CS3 intends to meet the strategic housing needs of the Borough. The supporting 
text for policy CS3 recognises that there is a growing need for housing for older 
people (p a r a g r a p h s 5 .3 a n d 5 .4) and t h a t specialist provision is needed once 
people require more support (paragraph 5.5). 

HEDNA 2017 has examined the housing needs of people in Charnwood, identifying 
significant growth in the over 65’s (78% between 2011 and 2036). HEDNA identifies that 
a combination of this ageing population and the associated higher levels of disability and 
health problems will result in an increased demand for specialist housing.  HEDNA 
looks at housing for older people under two Use Class categories; C3 and C2. In terms 
of C2, it is recommended, that 4,542 units would need to be provided in Charnwood 
between 2011 and 2036. This equates to 182 units per annum.

Leicestershire County Council has published an accommodation Strategy for Older 
People 2016-2026. The strategy supports the findings of HEDNA and includes a “toolkit” 
endorsed by the Department of Health, which seeks to identify potential demand for 
different types of specialist housing for older people and models the future range of 
housing and care provision. The toolkit suggests that per 1000 people over 75 years 
old there should be 25 extra care spaces. 

There is a clear need for further residential care facilities for sufferers of conditions such 
as dementia within the Borough and it is acknowledged that some of this need could be 
met on a site, such as this, which complies with the special strategy set out by CS1. It is 
important to temper this, however, with the fact that there are also other CS1 compliant 
sites which could meet this need. Nevertheless, given national guidance and the aims of 
the Core Strategy the weight that should be attributed to contributing to meeting this 
need is significant. 

In conclusion, there is clear evidence of the need for specialist dementia care facilities in 
the Borough. The proposal would comply with the provisions of policy CS3 in this regard 
and meets an identified need that weighs in favour of the proposal. The site, within the 
defined limits of Loughborough would also comply with the provisions of policies CS1 
and ST/2. It is therefore considered that the use of the site as a dementia care facility is 
acceptable in principle. This is subject to the application complying with the provision of 
the Development Plan in all other regards.

Heritage 

Due to the location of the site within Ashby Road Conservation Area, an assessment as to 
the potential impact on this designated heritage asset must be made. Additionally, the 
building itself is considered to be a non designated heritage asset due to its identification 
in the character appraisal. 

When considering any development which affects the setting of a conservation area, 
section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 provides 
a statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area and Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that when 
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.

Page 67



The NPPF requires local planning authorities to take into account the desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness and to 
seek positive improvements to the historic environment, advising that permission should 
be refused for development that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area.
 
Paragraph 193 of the NPPF specifically states that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation and the more important the asset, the greater 
the weight should be. This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. In considering 
applications within conservation areas, the local authority should pay special attention to 
carefully considering the appropriateness of the proposal and details such as height, 
design and siting in order to seek to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of 
the conservation area. Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that any harm to, or loss of, the 
significance of a designated heritage asset should require clear and convincing 
justification. 

Further to this, the National Design Guidance requires new development proposals to 
satisfy the following criteria:

 Integrate into their surroundings so they relate well to them; influenced by and 
influence their context positively; and respond to local history, culture and heritage.

 Have a positive and coherent identity; have a character that suits the context and 
are visually attractive, to delight their occupants and other users.

The significance of the conservation area includes the flowing description from the 
Conservation area Appraisal:

“Along Ashby Road, the mature trees and parkland settings of the large detached houses 
in their gardens create a fascinating evolution as one progresses along this gently curving 
gateway route into the town. The style of the houses is more varied but red brick, 
sometimes rendered and painted, white painted joinery, tiled and slate roofs dominate. 
There are superb examples of decoration.”

The significance of 190 Ashby Road itself can be attributed to its being a ‘Prominent local 
Building’, that is one of a number of bespoke buildings that, “reflect the use of locally 
available building materials and craftsmanship in their brick banding detail, stained glass 
windows and ironwork.”
It is considered that the development would have an impact on the significance of the 
heritage assets, that of the Conservation Area, and the existing building, a non-designated 
heritage asset, in the following ways:

 The total loss of a non-designated heritage asset 
 Harm to the conservation area 
 Failure to protect and enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation 

Area

Page 68



As required by paragraphs 193-196 of the NPPF, when considering developments which 
impact heritage assets, an assessment as the level of harm to the asset must be made.

It is considered that the total loss of a non-designated asset, No.190 Ashby Road, can 
only result in substantial harm to that asset. This must weigh heavily within the final 
planning balance for determining the application.  This weight must, however, remain 
proportionate to the value of the asset itself. As the asset is a non-designated heritage 
asset the substantial harm is significant but not determinant.  

The demolition of a prominent building with historic and architectural significance within 
the Conservation Area is also considered to result in less than substantial harm to the 
character and appearance of the designated Loughborough Ashby Road Conservation 
Area however this harm is still considerable. 

Additionally, the site boasts a significant stand of mature trees and a mature garden typical 
of the area. These trees are visible from the public areas to the north and east and make a 
valuable contribution to the Conservation Areas character by way of urban landscape. The 
proposal will significantly increase the built form footprint and reduce the garden space to a 
minor residual edge of landscape on the periphery of the plot and a courtyard. Again this is 
considered to contribute to less than substantial harm to this asset. 

In such cases, the NPPF advises that permission should be refused unless it can be 
demonstrated that the harm is necessary to achieve public benefits that would outweigh 
that harm. Consideration should also be given to securing the asset’s optimum viable use. 
It is acknowledged that there would be considerable public benefit in the provision of a 
dementia care facility. As discussed earlier in this report, there is an identified need 
through HEDNA for the provision of C2 care facilities in the Borough. However, this need 
could be delivered in other areas of the Borough on a more suitable site without the 
constraints present here. Whilst it is desirable for the applicant to site the development on 
land already within their ownership this alone does not constitute a reason to support the 
application. The application has not been supported by a clear and convincing justification 
as to why the facility can only be provided on this site and not elsewhere in the Borough. 
The creation of short-term jobs during the construction process and long-term jobs when 
staffing the facility would add further public benefits of the scheme.  

Furthermore, the existing building, whilst it may not be appropriate for use as dementia 
care facility, could be retained and used for another purpose, potentially bringing equal 
levels of public benefit, subject to the appropriate planning consent being granted. 

The test within the NPPF also requires, where appropriate, consideration of the optimum 
viable use as a public benefit to be weighed against the harm.  The reasoning behind this 
is to ensure that the use is not just viable for the owner, but also for the future 
conservation of the asset.  It therefore involves finding a balance between a realistic use 
that secures the retention of the asset whilst preserving the maximum significance 
possible.  If there is only one viable use that represents the optimum viable use, this can 
be weighed in favour of a development proposal as a public benefit.  However, in this 
case, there are several plausible alternative uses for the building including C3 residential, 
B1 offices or student accommodation.  Where there is a range of alternative economically 
viable uses, the optimum viable use is that which causes the least loss of significance, 
and therefore must be selected.  In this case the proposal, bringing as it does, the 

Page 69



complete loss of a prominent building within the conservation area, cannot be considered 
its optimum viable use.   

In this case, a carefully considered balanced judgement is therefore required.  On 
balance, whilst it is noted that the proposal would give rise to some public benefit, it is 
considered that the public benefits in providing a C2 care facility on this site and providing 
small scale employment is insufficient to override the harm identified particularly if the 
optimum viable use of the building is also factored in. The development therefore fails to 
comply with the provisions of policies CS14 and the NPPF in this regard.

Additionally, the proposal, for the reasons given, does not conserve the Conservation area 
heritage asset and this in itself must weigh against it in the planning balance. 

To conclude on heritage overall the proposal would lead to substantial harm to the non 
designated heritage asset and less than substantial harm to the conservation area as a 
designated asset.  The latter would not be outweighed by the public benefits of the 
scheme particularly when considering optimum viable use.  

Additionally, the complete loss of a non designated asset and failure to conserve the 
conservation area as a designated heritage asset must weigh against the proposal in the 
planning balance.  

Design

Notwithstanding the harm to the heritage assets identified, it is acknowledged that in 
visual terms the replacement building will be a contemporary contrast to the traditional 19th 
and early 20th century buildings forming the street scene. The development would appear 
as an individual built form of modern design rather than a pastiche building, which would 
be less appropriate and fit poorly into the town scape. 

The design of the current proposal uses a similar architectural language to the extant 
scheme for an extension to the building under reference P/17/0442/2. The design 
approach utilises red brick with a distinctive brick banding which is evident on other 
buildings throughout this part of the conservation area. This is complemented by the grey 
cladding to the upper stories of the building, reflecting the grey slate which is present in 
the locality. The provision of vertically incised window surrounds and setback of parts of 
the façade adds an architectural expression to the building. Furthermore, the façade is 
visually broken into two unequal halves by a glazed link which helps to maintain the 
architectural rhythm of the street scene. 

The specific design detailing and samples of the proposed materials could be secured via 
planning conditions in the interests of visual amenity if the application was to be viewed 
favourably. 

Overall, with regards to design, it is considered that this scheme, whilst a large modern 
building, is a carefully conceived design that utilises characteristics found within the 
conservation area in a contemporary way. A well-designed building within a Conservation 
Area does not need to replicate or continue the existing style of the area for the visual 
amenity of the area to be retained. Given the above context and notwithstanding the 
identified harm to the Conservation Area, it is considered that the design approach is 

Page 70



acceptable and accords with the relevant provisions of the Development Plan set out in 
policies CS2, EV/1 and national design guidance.

Impact on Trees and Landscape 

There are significant trees within the site and immediately adjacent which are afforded 
some protection as they are located in the Conservation Area. 

The development appears to have scant regard to the setting of the existing trees, and, 
instead ‘shoehorns’ the new building in and around the trees rather than establishing a 
harmonious balance between the built form and natural environment. Placing a substantial 
building in proximity to substantial trees should be avoided. The default position of the 
British Standard is to avoid encroachment into root area (BS para 5.3.1), crown spread and 
future growth of trees. It is considered that the proposal, being positioned so close to the 
trees fails to adequately take into account the future growth needs of the trees. 
Furthermore, the proposal would necessitate works to a number of the trees which involve 
significant reductions in the crown spread. These works would significantly reduce the 
amenity value of the trees. A number of trees are also identified for removal, which, whilst 
are mainly classed as category C trees in the submitted arboricultural assessment, add to 
the visual amenity of the conservation area. 

Overall, it is considered that there would be a loss of significant urban landscape features 
as a result of the development that would cause harm in its own right to the character and 
appearance of the area.  This would fail to comply with policies CS2 and CS11.

Impact on Neighbouring Amenity

The properties immediately to the east and west of the site are in use as student halls of 
residence. To the rear (southern) edge of the site is the Westfield Care Home. To the 
north, on the opposite side of Ashby Road there are a number of C3 residential dwellings. 

The impact on residential amenity has been considered carefully. The use of the site is to 
be remain unchanged, and, therefore the development is unlikely to give rise to an 
unacceptable level of additional noise and disturbance to nearby residents. Given the 
nature of the existing use it is considered that any noise and disturbance is likely to be 
minimal in any case. The replacement building, given its design and position, complies 
with the provisions set out in the Leading in Design SPD to prevent a loss of privacy, 
outlook or light and is therefore unlikely to result in a substantial loss amenity in these 
regards.   

As such, it is considered that the development would not be detrimental to neighbouring 
amenity and therefore accords with the provisions of policies CS2, EV/1, the NPPF and 
the Leading in Design Supplementary Planning Document in this regard. 

Highways

The Leicestershire County Highway Authority has reviewed the amended plans and does 
not object to the principle of the development. It considers that the residual cumulative 
impacts of the development are not severe in accordance with Paragraph 109 of the 
NPPF. Its response covers the following areas:

Page 71



Site Access: - The access arrangements to the site are to remain the same as the extant 
planning permission reference P/17/0422/2 which is considered to be acceptable.

Internal Layout: Whilst there is a shortfall in the required number of parking spaces to be 
provided on the site, given the nature of the existing and future use, it is not anticipated 
that the demand for on-site parking will increase a significant amount. The scheme makes 
provision for some additional parking within the site, and given its location there are 
alternative sustainable transport options available. On this basis, the level of parking 
provision shown is acceptable. 

Given the above position it is considered that the proposal would not result in harm in 
terms of highway safety and that an accessible development can be achieved by 
attaching suitable conditions. The proposal therefore complies with policy TR/18, the 
NPPF and the Leicestershire County Highway Authority Standing Advice.  

Ecology 

Policy CS13 of the Core Strategy along with the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework requires new development proposals to consider and mitigate any impacts on 
biodiversity. 

The application is not supported by a protected species survey. A bat survey would need 
to be completed prior to the demolition of the building. The presence of any protected 
species would then need to be mitigated as part of the development proposal. To date a 
bat survey has not been submitted, and therefore it is considered that the proposal fails to 
comply with policy CS13 in that it fails to preserve or enhance biodiversity in this location. 
However, this could be secured via a planning condition if members were mindful to 
approve the application upon consideration of the planning balance. 

Drainage

The site is situated within Flood Zone 1, meaning there is a low risk of flooding on the site. 

The application is accompanied by a drainage strategy which has been reviewed by the 
Leicestershire Lead Local Flood Authority. It has been advised that the application 
documents are insufficient to for the drainage of the site to be adequately assessed.  It is 
therefore considered that the development fails to demonstrate that the site will have 
suitable drainage facilities and therefore fails to comply with the provisions of policy CS16 
and the NPPF. 

However, this issue could be resolved through the use of planning conditions if members 
were minded to approve the application upon consideration of the planning balance.

Conclusion and the Planning Balance

The consideration of this application requires a carefully balanced judgement to be taken 
on the individual merits of the case.  

Page 72



The proposal would provide a specialist C2 dementia care facility close to the centre of 
Loughborough to meet the needs of a growing sector of the population, contributing to an 
identified need in HEDNA. This should be given weight in the planning balance and is a 
clear positive aspect in the planning balance for the proposal. Additionally, there would be 
limited economic benefits from jobs created during construction and later in providing care 
staff. 

The design of the replacement building is of good quality when assessed against 
appropriate design guidance and policy. The specific design details and proposed 
materials can be secured via planning conditions. There is no identified harm to 
neighbouring amenity or highway safety. 

There is currently considered to be the potential for harm to Ecology.  However, these 
impacts could be mitigated through the use of planning conditions if members are mindful 
to support the application. These issues are therefore neutral in the planning balance. 
There are also drainage concerns raised by the flood authority that require further work 
from the applicant.  As the application is recommended for refusal this work has not been 
undertaken but should members uphold officer recommendation it would be possible for 
the applicants to seek to address this issue in the event of an appeal.  If members chose 
to permit the application conditions securing this further work will be needed.   

However, with regards to Heritage, it is considered that the development would result in 
substantial harm to a non-designated heritage asset, that being No.190 Ashby Road, and 
less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of the designated heritage 
asset, that being the Conservation Area. In accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 
193-197 of the NPPF, the public benefits of providing a specialist C2 dementia care facility 
have been balanced against this identified harm.

On balance, the public benefits of the scheme are not considered to outweigh the 
identified harm particularly when the optimum viable use is considered. Additionally, the 
proposal fails to conserve both the non designated heritage asset of the building and the 
designated asset of the conservation area.  Adjusting this weight as per the value of these 
assets nevertheless means that significant weight must be concluded, particularly given 
that two assets are impacted. 

Furthermore, it is considered that the loss and erosion of trees on and around the site 
would lead to harm to visual amenity by way of loss of urban landscape.

Accordingly, the proposal is considered to be contrary to the relevant Development Plan 
polices. It is therefore recommended that planning permission is refused. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Refuse
1 No.190 Ashby Road is situated within the designated Loughborough 

Ashby Road Conservation Area and is itself considered to be a non-
designated heritage asset.  It is considered that the total loss of the 
building would result in substantial harm to the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset, (that of No.190 Ashby Road), and that 

Page 73



this combined with the loss and reduction of green urban landscape 
in and around the site would lead to less than substantial harm to a 
designated heritage asset, (that of the Loughborough Ashby Road 
Conservation Area).  This less than substantial harm would not be 
outweighed by public benefits having regard to the optimum viable 
use of the site.  Additionally, the proposal would fail to preserve or 
enhance the identified heritage assets.  As a result, the proposal 
conflicts with policies CS2, CS11 and CS14 of the Charnwood Local 
Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy, saved policy EV/1 of the Borough of 
Charnwood Local Plan, Paragraphs 190 - 197 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the Leading in Design Supplementary 
Planning Document, the National Design Guide and the advice 
contained within the Loughborough Ashby Road Conservation Area 
Character Appraisal.  

2 Policy CS13 of the adopted Charnwood Local Plan 2011- 2028 Core 
Strategy seeks to conserve and enhance the natural environment. In 
accordance with this policy the impact of development proposals on 
biodiversity will require mitigation. The applicant has failed to provide 
evidence that that the development would not adversely impact on 
potential bats at the site and this is considered to be contrary to the 
Policy CS 13 of the adopted Charnwood 2011-2028 Local Plan Core 
Strategy and the provisions of the amended National Planning Policy 
Framework.

3 The proposal fails to incorporate suitable drainage facilities to ensure 
the site can be adequately drained and to demonstrate the proposal 
would not increase the likelihood of surface water flooding in the 
locality. The proposal is thereby contrary to policy CS16 of the 
Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

The following advice notes will be attached to a decision

1. The Local Planning Authority acted pro-actively through positive engagement with 
the applicant in an attempt to narrow down the reasons for refusal, but fundamental 
objections could not be overcome. The decision was therefore made in line with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and in 
accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

2. The provisions of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
have been taken into account in the consideration of this application.

Page 74



50

188a

190

48.2m

Page 75



Item No. 3

Application Reference Number P/19/1218/2

Application Type: Full Date Valid: 05/06/2019
Applicant: Gayna Lees
Proposal: Conversion of building to dwelling and creation of vehicle access 

to 30 Main Street.  
Location: 30 Main Street

Cossington
LE7 4UU

Parish: Cossington Ward: Wreake Villages
Case Officer: Pat Reid Tel No: 01509 634747

This item is referred to Plans Committee at the request of Councillor Poland who considers 
that the vehicular access is incapable of serving an additional dwelling. 

Description of the Application Site
The application site is an outbuilding and part of the rear garden of a detached bungalow, 
No.30 Main Street. It is currently occupied by the outbuilding and associated hardstanding. 
The outbuilding is a large detached three bay garage of approximately 11 metres by 7.7 
metres with a 6 metres high ridged roof. It is constructed in red brick with an asbestos panel 
roof. It is on land which wraps around the end of the rear garden of the neighbouring 
property, No.28 Main Street.

Description of the Proposals
The proposal is to convert the outbuilding into a 1.5 storey three bedroom dwelling. The 
existing doors and windows on the front elevation would be replaced by glazing and new 
windows are proposed on the side and rear of the property. Roof lights are proposed in the 
front (4 number) and rear (6 number) roof slopes.

The existing vehicular access to No.30, which runs between that property and No.28, would 
serve the new dwelling. A new access is proposed for No.30 with parking for three vehicles 
and a bin store to serve that property. The proposed new dwelling would have a vehicular 
turning area and parking for three vehicles. 

The end 25 metres of the rear garden of No.30 would provide a garden for the proposed  
new dwelling. A rear garden of approximately 15 metres x 12 metres would be retained with 
No.30.

No 30 Main Street and the outbuilding are adjacent to, but outside, Cossington Conservation 
Area. No.40 Main Street, a grade II listed building, is approximately 12 metres south of the 
southern boundary of No.30 Main Street and about 35 metres from the application site itself.

The site is within the Limits to Development for Cossington.

Page 76



Development Plan Policies

The following Development Plan policies and guidance are relevant in the assessment of 
an application for the development:

Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted 9 November 2015)
The following policies are relevant to this application:

Policy CS1- Development Strategy- Directs most development to the Leicester PUA and 
larger settlements in the borough. In Other Settlements (which includes Cossington) should 
respond positively to small-scale opportunities within defined limits to development.

Policy CS2 – High Quality Design – requires developments to make a positive contribution 
to Charnwood, reinforcing a sense of place. Development should respect and enhance the 
character of the area, having regard to scale, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials 
and access, and protect the amenity of people who live or work nearby.

CS14 – Heritage – aims to conserve and enhance our historic assets.

Borough of Charnwood Local Plan (adopted 12 January 2004) (saved policies)
The policies relevant to this proposal include:

ST/2 – Limits to Development – confines new dwellings to land within the Limits to 
Development.

Policy EV/1 – Design – seeks to ensure a high standard of design that respects the 
character of the area and is compatible in mass, scale and layout.

Policy TR/18 - Parking Provision in New Development  - notes that planning permission will 
not be granted for development, unless off-street parking for vehicles, including cycles, and 
servicing arrangements are included, to secure highway safety and minimise harm to visual 
and local amenities.

Other material considerations

The National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement 
of sustainable development, fulfilling an economic, a social and an environmental role 
(para.8).  Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.

The NPPF states that the government attaches great importance to the design of the built 
environment and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development (para.124).  
Planning decisions should not attempt to impose architectural styles or tastes but should 
seek to reinforce local distinctiveness (para.60). 

Page 77



Development should only be refused on highways grounds if the impact upon highway 
safety would be severe (para. 109) 

Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions (para.130).

The impact of development upon heritage assets ( paras.189- 202) should be taken into 
account in the determination of applications.

The NPPF also explains that planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only 
imposed where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development being 
considered, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.

Supplementary Planning Document Leading In Design
This document seeks to encourage, promote and inspire higher design standards in new 
development.  

Cossington Conservation Area Character Appraisal ( April 2009) 
Describes what is special about the historic core of the village.

National Design Guide
This document sets out 10 characteristics for good design along with good practice and 
considerations for the future.  
 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990

Relevant Planning History

P/18/0187/2 – Construction of a dwelling – Refused 5th October 2018.
Appeal dismissed 21st February 2019.

An Enforcement Notice was served on the 26th November 2019 in connection with the use 
of the land to the rear of the bungalow for storage of scrap vehicles and materials. The 
Notice takes effect on the 31st December and the owners have one month to comply unless 
an appeal is submitted prior to the Notice taking effect.

Responses of Statutory Consultees

Cossington Parish Council – Support letters of objection from two of the neighbours.

Other Comments Received 

Councillor Poland - Objects to the proposal on the grounds that the access is incapable of 
serving an additional dwelling.

Four neighbours ( Nos 26,28,36 and 41 Main Street ) – Object on the following 
(summarised)  grounds;

Page 78



 The conversion would have an adverse impact upon character and appearance of 
the area ,including the conservation area and nearby listed building

 The proposal would result in the loss of transitional area between built-up village and 
countryside beyond

 The proposal would have an adverse impact upon amenities of neighbours due to 
noise, disturbance, fumes, loss of privacy and overlooking. Contrary to relevant 
guidance 

 Inadequate and unsafe access is proposed which would impact upon highway safety 
close to primary school, including inadequate fire vehicle access

 The proposal would have an unacceptable impact on flood risk due to  inadequate 
drainage 

 Application building is misrepresented as a workshop; it is a domestic garage
 The proposal fails to address the previous reasons for refusal which were upheld on 

appeal 

Full copies of the correspondence received are available for reference on the planning file.

Consideration of the Planning Issues

The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are:

1) Principle of development
2) The appeal decision
3) Impact on the character and appearance of the area
4) Heritage Assets
5) Impact on neighbours
6) Access and highway safety 
7) Flooding and drainage 

Principle of development

The starting point for decision making on all planning applications is that they must be 
made in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. Policies in the adopted Core Strategy and the saved policies in the Borough of 
Charnwood Local Plan are therefore the starting point for consideration.

The principle of development is guided by policy CS1 of the Core Strategy. It directs growth 
to the Leicester Principal Urban Area (PUA), with the majority of the remainder being met 
in Loughborough and Shepshed. The next tier of settlement is the Service Centres and then 
the Other settlements which includes Cossington, where a proportion of new dwellings will 
be provided by responding positively to small-scale opportunities within defined limits to 
development.

The site is within the settlement boundary for Cossington where the principle of development 
is generally acceptable and as the development is also small scale and conversion of an 
existing building, (1 unit), it would be in accordance with policy CS1. 

The appeal decision 

Page 79



In October 2018 planning permission was refused (P/18/0187/2) for a large four bedroom 
detached house on the site of the outbuilding and hard standing which is the subject of the 
current application. An appeal against that decision was dismissed in February 2019 
(APP/X2410/W/18/3216620). That decision, as part of the planning history of the site, is a 
material consideration in the determination of the current application. 

The application was refused on the grounds of adverse impact upon the character and 
appearance of the area, including the conservation area and setting of the nearby listed 
building; noise, disturbance and loss of privacy from the use of the access and an 
inadequate flood risk assessment. These issues and their relevance to the current 
application will be assessed in the following sections of this report.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area  

The application site is outside, but adjacent to, the eastern boundary of the Cossington 
Conservation Area. It is also close to No.40 Main Street, which is a Grade II listed building.

Policy CS2 seeks to require high quality design that responds positively to its context. Policy 
CS2 and saved Local Plan policy EV/1 also require that new development respects and 
enhances the character of the area in terms of scale, density, massing, height, landscape, 
layout, materials and access arrangements. 

This part of Main Street is characterised by linear development, with dwellings on the street 
frontage and large gardens backing onto open countryside. The previous application was 
refused because it proposed a substantial dwelling out of keeping with the linear pattern 
and layout of Main Street. It was considered that the dwelling would conflict with the 
character of the western side of Main Street, where large gardens provide an undeveloped 
transition between this part of the Cossington and the adjoining countryside. While that 
analysis was supported by the appeal decision, it is relevant to the determination of this 
application that the decision Appeal Inspector’s Decision Letter, (DL)  paragraph 6 ) noted 
that “the proposed new dwelling would be significantly larger in scale and bulk than the 
workshop..”

This proposal is significantly different from the scheme which was dismissed on appeal.
That application related to a large four bedroom detached house with a floor area of 
approximately 300 square metres and a ridge height of 7.3 metres. It would have occupied 
the site of both the existing outbuilding and the hard standing in front of that building. The 
current application proposes the conversion of the outbuilding in to a relatively modest three 
bedroom house of approximately 150 square metres, with an unaltered ridge height of 6 
metres.

It is considered  that the external alterations to the building and associated development 
would not  impact on the character of the frontage development on Main Street or  the 
countryside to the north to such an extent that it would now be reasonable to refuse planning 
permission.

The outbuilding is mainly screened from the south and east by 2 metre high hedges. It is 
sited on land which wraps around behind No.28 Main Street and, consequently, there are 
only glimpses of the building from Main Street, (from the gap between Nos 28 and 30). It is 

Page 80



also visible from public rights of way in the neighbouring countryside, (approximately 140 
metres to the west of the application site). Other views are from private land and buildings. 

Significantly, the appeal decision ( DL paragraph 6) notes that “the workshop already has a 
physical presence of an isolated building to the rear of frontage properties when viewed 
from the near-by public rights of way. However, the proposed dwelling would be significantly 
larger in scale and bulk than the workshop…..whether viewed from the public rights of way 
or along the drive between Nos. 38 and 30….”

The alterations to the building comprise of replacing doors and windows in the front 
elevation with large windows and a front door; a ground floor window in the rear elevation; 
two ground floor windows and patio doors in the side elevation and roof lights in the front (4 
number) and rear (6 number) roof planes. While these domestic features would alter the 
appearance of the building it would still have the appearance of a historic, ancillary structure 
discreetly located 20 metres behind existing properties on Main Street.
The subdivision of the garden to No.30 would not significantly alter the character of the 
substantial rear gardens in this part of the village as two good sized areas would remain. 
The outbuilding and hard standing have been used as the garage and parking for No.30. 
The continued use of the access and hardstanding by vehicles would not materially alter 
the character and appearance of the site. The proposed new access and parking in front of 
No.30 is not dissimilar to the existing arrangement with other properties in the area.

It is considered that the proposal would not cause unacceptable harm to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area and, as such, it would be in accordance with Core 
Strategy policy CS2 and saved Local Plan policy EV/1.

Heritage Assets

Policy CS14 also seeks to protect heritage assets and their settings and section 72 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Listed building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that special regard shall be had for preserving and enhancing the conservation area.  
Additionally, the NPPF requires a judgement as to whether substantial or less than 
substantial harm would occur to the significance of the heritage assets as a result of the 
development

The application site is outside, but adjacent to, the eastern boundary of the Cossington 
Conservation Area. It is also close to No.40 Main Street, which is a Grade II listed building.

The conservation area appraisal defines its special interest as being derived from:

- “the individuality of architectural styles and wealth of influences from different periods all 
found along a single street, from medieval remains and Tudor inspired details to the 
Gothic revival, Georgian terraces, Victorian villas and Arts & Crafts alterations; 

- the interplay of chimneys with the tones and textures of traditional building materials 
which creates attractive distinctive roofscapes; 

- - the contribution of the mature trees throughout the streetscene which is an uncommon 
feature of the Soar Valley villages; 

- - the consistency of the front boundary treatments which are often at a low level and 
combined with open frontages ensures that buildings are relatively exposed allowing the 
architecture to define the streetscene;

Page 81



-  - the easily discernable historic forms and fabric which are not dominated or 
overwhelmed by infill developments.”

The listing for 40 Main Street reads:

“House, formerly 2 cottages, C18. Red brick, whitewashed to front, and thatch roof with brick 
right ridge and end stacks, that on right end projecting. 2 ranges, that to left with coped 
gables, of 2 storeys of a 3 light centre opening casement with top lights. Range to right of 
1”

There is evidence that the outbuilding was used as a garage during World War II, but its 
precise use and history is unknown. Since that date it has been used to garage a variety of 
private and commercial vehicles, generally in association with the use of No.30 Main Street. 
Although it is not considered to be a non designated heritage asset in its own right the 
conversion to a dwelling would nevertheless retain a building with some historic value.

The application site is adjacent to the boundary of Cossington Conservation Area and is 
also close to No.40 Main Street, which is a Grade II listed building. There is a requirement 
that special regard is had to the desirability of preserving Listed Buildings or their settings 
and the impact upon the character and appearance of a conservation area. The appeal 
decision considered that,  (DL paragraphs 7 and 8), the listed building is “sufficient distance 
from the site to avoid the proposed development having an adverse effect on its setting” 
and “the setting of the conservation area would not be harmed because the appeal site 
includes a site with the existing workshop rather than introducing an entirely new building 
on the edge of the area.” It concludes that there would be “no conflict with policy CS14 
regarding conservation and enhancing heritage assets for their own value have been 
identified”

The conversion of the existing building would have even less impact than this previously 
refused scheme,  as it is smaller in scale and more closely reflects the historic workshop 
function of the building in its design. 

The proposal would not impact upon any of the features described in the listing for 40 Main 
Street.  Additionally it would not have any impact upon the main characteristics of the 
Conservation Area.  It is also important to note that it is not an infill development and that it 
does not overwhelm the historic fabric.  

The new access would involve the removal of a section of the low wall to the front of 30 
Main Street.  The agent has clarified that the existing gravelled parking area and planting 
(other than that removed for the access), would be retained.  Due to its scale and nature it 
is not considered that this element would impact on the significance of the listed building or 
the conservation area. 

Consequently, it is considered that there would be no harm to the significance of the heritage 
assets, namely the listed building at No.40 Main Street and Cossington Conservation Area.

In addition the proposal is considered to preserve the character of these heritage assets 
and would, therefore, be in accordance with Section 72 of the Planning Act 1990, paragraph 
193 of the NPPF, Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy and the Conservation Area Character 
Assessment.

Page 82



Impact on neighbours

The application site has boundaries with Nos 26, 28 and 36 Main Street .The proposal has 
the potential to impact upon these neighbours. It is considered that there would be no impact 
upon neighbours who are further away. There would also be a potential impact on No.30 
Main Street which would be retained as a separate dwelling.

There would be no significant impact upon neighbours on the opposite (eastern)  side of  
Main Street. There are no neighbours to the rear, as the site backs onto open countryside.

The front of the outbuilding is approximately 30 metres, from the rear of neighbouring 
properties on Main Street. The Borough Councils adopted Supplementary Planning 
Document, Leading in design advises that there should be 21m separation distance 
between main habitable rooms for two storey buildings.  The proposed building contains 
rooflights that face towards these properties but as these are in excess of 21m distant, 
separated from these neighbours by a 1.8 metre high hedge and at an angle and height that 
makes views out difficult  it is  not considered they to lead to a material loss of privacy. 

The proposed dwelling which was the subject of the appeal had first floor windows 
overlooking the rear garden of No.36 which it was considered would result in unacceptable 
overlooking of that property. A first floor window which was proposed in the side elevation, 
overlooking the rear garden of No.36 has been removed. 

The appeal decision assessed the impact of the new dwelling upon neighbours at Nos 26 
and 28 Main Street. While that dwelling would have had a detrimental effect upon the 
outlook from those gardens it was considered that (DL paragraph 10) “When the size of the 
gardens is taken into account the degree of harm would be limited and that and this matter 
alone would not be a reason for this appeal to fail but does add to the unacceptable harm 
which has been identified” 

The proposal which was previously refused  would have resulted in a 7.3 metres high gable 
wall built up to the rear boundary of No.28, approximately 22 metres from the rear of the 
dwelling. This application proposes the retention and conversion of the existing building with 
the 3.7 metres high eaves on the front elevation approximately 10 metres from the boundary 
with No.28 and 32 metres from the rear of that neighbouring dwelling.

Consequently, it is considered that the relationship between the existing and proposed 
dwellings and neighbouring gardens in terms of privacy is acceptable. Additionally, due to 
the distance to neighbouring properties and the scale of the proposal there would  be no 
loss of light or overbearing impact upon these properties. 

The final element of the impact upon neighbours is potential disturbance from the use of the 
existing drive to access the proposed new dwelling. This would be used separately from the 
occupation of No.30 . The impact of vehicle movements associated with this use upon the 
enjoyment of the rear garden and a secondary window in the side of No.30, were part of the 
reason why the previous appeal failed.

The application proposes that the secondary window in the end elevation, overlooking the 
drive, would be blocked up and a 2 metres high fence would be erected along the boundary 

Page 83



between the drive and the rear garden of No.30. Subject to this mitigation it is not considered 
that by itself the disturbance from vehicles using the drive upon neighbours, particularly 
No.30, would so severe that it would be reasonable to refuse planning permission.

On balance, taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposal who ensure 
reasonable residential amenity and accords with Core Strategy policy CS2 and saved Local 
Plan policy EV/1. 

Access and highway safety

The application proposes that the long established vehicular access to the existing garage 
would be used to serve the proposed new dwelling and that 3 car parking spaces would be 
provided.  A new access and 3 parking spaces are proposed in the front of No.30 to serve 
the existing dwelling.

The Highway Authority has not commented on the application and standing advice has been 
used. It is considered that the access would not result in a significant impact on highway 
safety and the proposal would make sufficient off –road parking provisions. To refuse a 
planning application on highway safety grounds it must be demonstrated that there is severe 
residual cumulative impacts resulting from the proposal. The proposed parking and access 
arrangements comply with standing advice and are considered to be acceptable.

Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and saved policy TR/18 of the adopted Local Plan 
and that severe impacts as described in Paragraph 108 of the NPPF would not be 
caused by the development.

Flooding and drainage

One of the reasons for the refusal of the previous planning application ( P/18/0187/2 – see 
history above) was that the  Flood Risk Assessment which was submitted in support of that 
application was considered to be unacceptable and the Environment Agency (EA) 
recommended that planning permission should be refused.

After the appeal against that refusal of permission was lodged, the EA removed their 
objection and, consequently, flooding and drainage did not form part of the appeal case 
which was considered at that time. The EA stated that :

The Charnwood Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA), which was updated in 2014, 
shows the site to be in Flood Zone 1. Flood Zone 1 is the area of land deemed to be at least 
risk of flooding, and where proposals such as the appeal application do not require the 
submission of an FRA, in line with the Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy 
Framework. The Environment Agency understands that the outputs from the SFRA would 
have been arrived at by using detailed modelling of the extent of flooding attributed to the 
ordinary watercourse.  

We therefore accept that the SFRA represents the more accurate source of information on 
flood risk to the site and so we withdraw our objection to the proposals submitted under 
planning application P/18/0187/2 (appeal reference APP/X2410/W/18/3216620).

Page 84



This confirms that the site is within Flood Zone 1 where there is a low probability of flooding; 
the site has an area of less than 1 hectare and the EA has not identified any critical drainage 
problems. Consequently, a FRA is not necessary and there is no reason to object to the 
proposal on the grounds of flooding and drainage. 

Conclusion

Decisions on applications need to be made in accordance with the adopted development 
plan policies and the material considerations that support them. In this case the planning 
history of a similar development was also relevant.

Cossington is an ”other settlement” where a proportion of dwellings should be delivered by 
responding positively to small-scale opportunities within defined limits to development. This 
is an acceptable development which accords with Core Strategy policy CS1.

The proposal would not have an adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the 
area and there would be no harm to the significance of heritage assets or their setting. It 
would be in accordance with Core Strategy policies CS2 and CS14, saved Local plan policy 
EV/1 and the NPPF.

The proposal would not have a material impact on the residential amenities of neighbouring 
properties and accords with Core Strategy policy CS2 and saved Local Plan policy EV/1.
 
It is considered that the proposal would not result in severe residual cumulative impacts, 
given the existing use of the site and the new access and parking area which are proposed 
and would accord with standing advice and saved Local Plan policy TR/18. 

The site can be adequately drained and there is no significant risk of flooding.

Accordingly, having regard to the above considerations, it is recommended that planning 
permission is granted conditionally.

RECOMMENDATION:-

Grant Conditionally
 

1 The development, hereby permitted, shall be begun not later than 3 years from 
the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:
- 1:1250 Location Plan and 1:500 Existing and Proposed Site Plans – Drawing   
number 1001 Rev A

Page 85



- Elevations – Drawing number 1002 Rev A
- Plans and Section – Drawing number 1003 Rev B
Received by the Local Planning Authority 23rd October 2019 

REASON:  To define the terms of the planning permission.

3. No materials shall be placed on the site until such time as details of the type, texture 
and colour of the materials to be used on the external surfaces of the proposed 
development have been submitted for the agreement of the local planning authority. 
Only materials agreed in writing by the local planning authority shall be used in 
carrying out the development.

REASON: To make sure that the appearance of the completed development is    
satisfactory.

4. The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied before a 1.8 metre high fence 
has been erected along the boundary between the access to the proposed dwelling 
and the rear garden of No.30 Main Street. The fence shall thereafter be retained in 
perpetuity.

REASON : In the interests of the amenities of neighbours.

5. The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied before the secondary window 
in the side of No.30 Main Street has been blocked up in accordance with the details 
shown on Drawing number 1001 Rev A. The window shall thereafter be blocked up 
in perpetuity .

REASON: In the interests of the amenities of the occupiers of No.30 Main Street

6. The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied before new access 
arrangements shown on Drawing number 1001 Rev A have been provided . These 
shall thereafter be retained along with the existing parking area in perpetuity.

REASON: In the interest of highway safety.

The following advice notes will be attached to a decision

1 DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES RELEVANT TO THIS 
DEVELOPMENT  -  Policies CS1,CS2 and CS14 of the Charnwood 
Local Plan (2011-2028) Core Strategy and Policies EV/1 and TR/18 
of the Borough of Charnwood  Local Plan have been taken into 
account in the determination of this application. The proposed 
development complies with the requirements of these policies and 
there are no other material considerations which are of significant 
weight in reaching a decision on this application.

2 Planning permission has been granted for this development because 
the Council has determined that, although representations have been 

Page 86



received against the proposal, it is generally in accord with the terms 
of the above-mentioned policies and, otherwise, no harm would arise 
such as to warrant the refusal of planning permission.

3 The Local Planning Authority acted pro-actively through positive 
engagement with the applicant during the determination process. This 
led to improvements to the scheme to secure a sustainable form of 
development in line with the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with The Town 
and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015.

 

Page 87



Page  1 of 14

Delegated planning decisions made by Charnwood Borough Council since the last Plans Committee report

Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/19/2001/2 Householder 
Prior 
Notification

337 Link Road 
Anstey 
Leicester
LE7 7ED

The erection of a single storey rear 
extension extending beyond the rear 
wall of detached house by 5.3m,
with a maximum height of 4.8m, and 
height to the eaves of 2.44m.

The prior approval of the Council is 
refused.

14-Nov-2019 Anstey

P/19/1965/2 Full 27 The Close
Anstey
LE7 7EP

Proposed erection of detached 
bungalow (Revised scheme - 
P/19/0564/2 refers)

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

14-Nov-2019 Anstey

P/19/2053/2 Householder 
Prior 
Notification

23 Woolden Way 
Anstey 
Leicestershire 
LE7 7UZ

The erection of a single storey rear 
extension extending beyond the rear 
wall of the original house by  4.2m, 
with a maximum height of 3.2m, and 
height to the eaves of 2.25m. (Prior 
notification)

Prior approval from the Council is not 
required.

15-Nov-2019 Anstey

P/19/1781/2 Discharge of
Conditions

Land adjacent 293 Bradgate
Road Anstey 
Leicestershire 
LE7 7FX

Discharge of condition 15 of Appeal 
Decision APP/X2410/W/18/3204941 
(application P/17/0508/2) regarding 
archaeological investigation

   Conditions discharged – 
Confirmed.

21-Nov-2019 Anstey

P/19/1789/2 Full 216 Bradgate Road
Anstey
LE7 7FD

First floor extension to create two 
storey dwelling and erection of 
detached double garage to front of 
site.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

25-Nov-2019 Anstey

P/19/1788/2 Householder Annex
216 Bradgate Road
Anstey
LE7 7FD

Proposed extensions to side and 
roof of detached annexe building.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

26-Nov-2019 Anstey

P/19/1964/2 Full 80 Hollow Road
Anstey
LE7 7FS

Erection of a dwelling. Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

29-Nov-2019 Anstey

P
age 88

A
genda Item

 6



Page  2 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/1993/2 Householder 43 The Banks 
Barrow Upon Soar 
LE12 8NL

Proposed single storey front 
extension

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

19-Nov-2019 Barrow & Sileby
West

P/19/1785/2 Householder 20 Field Edge Drive 
Barrow Upon Soar 
LE12 8ZF

Proposed single storey extension to 
side of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

26-Nov-2019 Barrow & Sileby
West

P/19/2043/2 Householder 10 Kingfisher Close 
Barrow Upon Soar 
Leicestershire
LE12 8AX

Proposed construction of single 
storey extension to rear of existing 
dwelling

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

29-Nov-2019 Barrow & Sileby
West

P/19/1952/2 Full 51 Rectory Road
Wanlip
LE7 4PL

Single storey extensions to front & 
side and two storey rear extension 
including the creation of balconies to 
front and rear.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Birstall Wanlip

P/19/1341/2 Householder 35 Hallam Fields Road
Birstall 
Leicestershire 
LE4 3LH

Erection of single storey front & rear 
extensions to dwelling, raising of 
ground level to rear and erection of 
retaining wall with 1.8 fence above.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Birstall Wanlip

P/19/1982/2 Householder 420 Loughborough Road
Birstall
LE4 3ED

Proposed single storey extensions 
to front & rear and re-roofing to side
& rear.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Birstall Wanlip

P/19/2089/2 Householder 
Prior 
Notification

5 Barngate Close 
Birstall 
Leicestershire 
LE4 3GF

The erection of a single storey rear 
extension extending beyond the rear 
wall of the original house by  4m,
with a maximum height of 3m, and 
height to the eaves of 3m. (Prior 
notification)

Prior approval from the Council is not 
required.

21-Nov-2019 Birstall Wanlip

P/19/1930/2 Householder 17A Firfield Avenue
Birstall
LE4 4DS

Creation of hard standing area to 
the front of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

02-Dec-2019 Birstall
Watermead

P
age 89



Page  3 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/1456/2 Householder 28 Huntsmans Dale 
East Goscote 
Leicestershire
LE7 3WX

Proposed two storey extension and 
single storey extension to side of 
dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

20-Nov-2019 East Goscote
Ward

P/19/1859/2 Full 249 Markfield Lane 
Newtown Linford 
LE67 9PR

First floor extension to side, 
provision of canopy roof to existing 
garage, porch and rear extension to 
dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Forest Bradgate

P/19/1825/2 Householder The Barns 
Leicester Road 
Markfield 
Leicestershire 
LE67 9RE

Raise roof including side dormers & 
installation of roof lights and 
amendment to side porch.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

20-Nov-2019 Forest Bradgate

P/19/1940/2 Full Land off Priory Lane 
Newtown Linford 
Leicestershire
LE67 9PA

Erection of portal steel framed 
agricultural building for storage.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

21-Nov-2019 Forest Bradgate

P/19/1269/2 Full 400 Bradgate Road 
Newtown Linford 
LE6 0HA

Creation of vehicular access and car 
parking spaces to front of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

22-Nov-2019 Forest Bradgate

P/19/2224/2 CL (Proposed) Mucklin Lodge 
Beaumanor Drive 
Woodhouse
LE12 8UG

Certificate of lawful development for 
a proposed single storey rear 
extension with orangery roof.

Permission refused. 27-Nov-2019 Forest Bradgate

P/19/2223/2 Householder 47 Victoria Road 
Woodhouse Eaves 
LE12 8RF

Single storey extensions to front of 
detached house and formation of 
car parking area accessed off Hill 
Rise.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

29-Nov-2019 Forest Bradgate

P
age 90



Page  4 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/1687/2 Full 3 Nanhill Drive 
Woodhouse Eaves 
LE12 8TL

Erection of one dwelling (Revised 
scheme - P/17/2504/2 refers) - 
Removal of condition 2 relating to
the materials and construction of the 
rear/side patio.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

05-Dec-2019 Forest Bradgate

P/19/1798/2 Full St Pauls Church 
Church Hill 
Woodhouse Eaves 
LE12 8RT

The provision of an external store 
and the reinstatement of externally 
illuminated stone crosses on the 
Nave and Chancel east gable roof.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

06-Dec-2019 Forest Bradgate

P/19/2239/2 Equipment PD 
Notification

Loughborough Fire Station
Fire Drill Tower 
Epinal Way 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 4LT

Removal to existing antennas and 
dishes. Installation of new antennas, 
dishes, RRU, BOBs, cabin upgrade 
and associated ancillary work 
thereto.

The application be agreed without 
conditions.

26-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Ashby

P/19/1959/2 Full 19 Rosehill 
Loughborough 
LE11 4SS

Erection of detached two storey 
garage building with ancillary 
accommodation above.

Permission refused. 03-Dec-2019 Loughborough
Garendon

P/19/1970/2 Householder 4 King George Road 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire
LE11 2PA

Retention of front porch & single 
storey rear extension and erection of 
first floor & single storey rear 
extension to dwelling

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

28-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Hastings

P/19/2140/2 Householder 6 Hailey Avenue 
Loughborough 
LE11 4QW

Single storey extensions to side/rear 
of detached dwelling (Revised 
scheme P/19/0611/2 refers)

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

14-Nov-2019 Loughborough 
Hathern & 
Dishley

P/19/1868/2 Full Stonebow Primary School 
Stonebow Close 
Loughborough
LE11 4ZH

Replacement of existing front 
boundary fencing and gates with 
security fencing and gates

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Loughborough 
Hathern & 
Dishley

P/19/1804/2 Full 5 Bakewell Court 
Bakewell Road 
Loughborough 
LE11 5QY

Change of use of premises from B8
Use (Storage and Distribution) to D2
Use (Gymnasium).

Permission refused. 14-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Lemyngton

P
age 91



Page  5 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/1963/2 Advert
Consent

Pennine House 
Lemyngton Street 
Loughborough 
LE11 1UH

Installation of 2no illuminated signs 
and 1no welcome sign and light box

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

14-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Lemyngton

P/19/1812/2 Householder 48 Mountfields Drive
Loughborough
LE11 3JE

Proposed single storey extension to 
rear of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

25-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Nanpantan

P/19/1450/2 Householder 57 Mountfields Drive 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire
LE11 3JD

Proposed two storey extension to 
side, single storey extension to rear, 
alterations and raising roof height to 
form loft conversion to dwelling.

Permission refused. 27-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Nanpantan

P/19/1936/2 Householder 423 Park Road 
Loughborough 
LE11 2HQ

Erection of outbuilding in rear 
garden to replace existing garage

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

22-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Outwoods

P/19/2037/2 Full 256 Beacon Road 
Loughborough 
LE11 2RD

Erection of first floor extension to 
side/rear of detached dormer 
bungalow (revised scheme).

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

05-Dec-2019 Loughborough
Outwoods

P/19/1782/2 Householder 20 Lilac Close 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 2LA

Proposed single storey extension to 
side to connect garage with existing 
dwelling

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Shelthorpe

P/19/1943/2 Advert
Consent

16-17 Market Place
Loughborough
LE11 3EA

Display of two externally illuminated 
and one internally illuminated fascia 
signs (revised scheme)

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

11-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/19/1383/2 Householder 11 Westfield Drive 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 3QJ

Proposed two storey extension to 
rear of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

11-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/19/1655/2 Full 100 Ashby Road 
Loughborough 
LE11 3AF

Change of use at first floor level 
from offices (Class A2) to a flat 
(Class C3).

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

12-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P
age 92



Page  6 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/2179/2 Equipment PD 
Notification

Land at Loughborough 
Police Station 
Southfield Road 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire
LE11 2XF

The removal of 3no. existing 
antennas and the installation of 3no. 
replacement antennas and ancillary 
development including 3no. 
additional Remote Radio Head 
(RRHs) 3no. Cept Filters and 3no. 
PDUs.

The application be agreed without 
conditions.

13-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/19/2197/2 Equipment PD 
Notification

Loughborough College 
Radmoor Road 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire
LE11 3BT

Removal of existing antenna to be 
replaced by 6no. apertures (or
'airspace'. each of which can house
2no. antennas - 12 total) existing 
dishes to remain, works within the 
cabin and development ancillary 
thereto.

The application be agreed without 
conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/18/0170/2 Full 17-18
Packe Street 
Loughborough 
LE11 3EZ

Alterations to building, provision of 
third and fourth floor extension, four 
storey extension to side and 
conversion of building to form 32 
studio dwellings (Class C3).

Permission refused. 15-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/19/1909/2 Full 24 Stanley Street 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 2EL

Erection of replacement dwelling 
(revised scheme P/17/1494/2 
refers).

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

21-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/19/1557/2 Full Shenton House
13 - 23 Leicester Road
Loughborough
LE11 2AE

Insertion of new and replacement 
fenestrations (partially 
retrospective).

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

26-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/19/2033/2 Householder 13 Westfield Drive 
Loughborough 
LE11 3QJ

Erection of two-storey side & 
single-storey rear extensions to 
existing dwelling

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

26-Nov-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P
age 93



Page  7 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/2078/2 Householder The Poplars
61 Park Road 
Loughborough 
LE11 2ED

Single storey extension to rear of 
semi-detached dwelling (Revised 
scheme - P/19/0756/2 refers).

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

03-Dec-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/19/2116/2 Full Crown House 
Southfield Road 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 2TW

Variation of condition 4 of 
P/19/0964/2 to allow use of plant 
and machinery between 0700 and
2000 hours Mondays to Fridays and 
between 0700 and 1800 hours on 
Saturdays with no working on 
Sundays.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

06-Dec-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/19/2113/2 Full 130 Paget Street 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 5DU

Single storey extension to rear of 
existing house in multiple 
occupation.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

03-Dec-2019 Loughborough
Storer

P/19/2094/2 Advert
Consent

Mcdonald's Restaurant 
Warwick Way 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire
LE11 4UG

Installation of x4 digital freestanding 
signs and x1 digital booth screen to 
drive thru facility.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

03-Dec-2019 Loughborough
Storer

P/19/1941/2 Full 54 Broad Street 
Loughborough 
LE11 5AB

Single storey extension to rear of 
existing house in multiple 
occupation.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

05-Dec-2019 Loughborough
Storer

P/19/2103/2 Householder 9 Celandine Close 
Mountsorrel 
Leicestershire 
LE12 7FX

Erection of first floor extension to 
front of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

02-Dec-2019 Mountsorrel

P/19/2141/2 Householder 
Prior 
Notification

67 Queniborough Road 
Queniborough 
Leicestershire
LE7 3DG

The erection of a single storey rear 
extension extending beyond the rear 
wall of the original house by  4m,
with a maximum height of 3.5m, and 
height to the eaves of 2.6m. (Prior 
Notification)

Prior approval from the Council is not 
required.

29-Nov-2019 Queniborough

P
age 94



Page  8 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/2070/2 Householder 31 Kings Lane 
South Croxton 
Leicestershire 
LE7 3RE

Proposed single storey extension to 
rear of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

06-Dec-2019 Queniborough

P/19/1745/2 Householder The Old Bakehouse
51 Meeting Street 
Quorn 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE12 8EU

Reduce height of boundary wall. Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

11-Nov-2019 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/19/1983/2 Full 31 Toller Road
Quorn
LE12 8AH

Erection of two storey extensions to 
side and rear, with dormer and 
single storey extension to rear.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/16/2833/2 Full Pillings Lock Marina 
Flesh Hovel Lane 
Quorn
Leicestershire
LE12 8FE

Retention of 15 no. storage sheds. Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/19/1707/2 Full 28/30 Soar Road 
Quorn 
Leicestershire 
LE12 8BW

Erection of one dwelling with
re-positioning of existing access and 
provision of turning and parking 
areas.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

18-Nov-2019 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/19/2087/2 Householder 41 Warwick Avenue
Quorn
LE12 8HE

Single storey extension to side and 
rear of detached dwelling and 
erection of new boundary fence.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

26-Nov-2019 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/19/0394/2 Full 263 Loughborough Road 
Mountsorrel 
Leicestershire
LE12 7AS

Redevelop former nursery site to 
provide a terrace of 7x Light 
Industrial units and a 2 storey office 
building (use classes B1a, B1b and 
B1c) with associated parking and 
landscaping.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

06-Dec-2019 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P
age 95



Page  9 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/0862/2 Full Clear View Farm, Unit 1
103 Loughborough Road
Quorn
LE12 8DU

Variation of condition 2 of planning 
permission P/17/0388/2 (Approved 
Plans Condition).

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

06-Dec-2019 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/19/2073/2 CL (Proposed) 19 Mountsorrel Lane
Rothley
LE7 7PS

Certificate of lawful development 
(proposed) for a single storey rear 
extension with roof light and loft 
conversion with 3 roof lights..

Certificate of Lawful Proposed 
Development.

11-Nov-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/19/1925/2 Change of 
Use Prior 
Notification

Ivy Barn 
Bybrook Hall 
Leicester Lane 
Swithland 
Leicestershire 
LE12 8TD

Conversion of agricultural stables to 
x2 residential dwellings. (Prior 
Notification)

The prior approval of the Council is 
refused.

11-Nov-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/19/1899/2 Householder 41 Latimer Road 
Cropston 
Leicestershire 
LE7 7GP

Single storey extension to front and 
two storey and single storey 
extensions to rear.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/19/2291/2 CL (Proposed) 19 Barley Way 
Rothley 
Leicestershire 
LE7 7RL

Certificate of lawful development for 
proposed single storey side 
extension.

Certificate of Lawful Proposed 
Development.

22-Nov-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/19/2047/2 Householder 2 The Crescent
Rothley
LE7 7RW

Erection of single storey carport and 
porch extensions to front of dwelling 
and single storey extension to rear.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

26-Nov-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/19/2049/2 Householder 3 Waterfield Road
Cropston
LE7 7HL

Single storey extensions to side/rear 
of detached bungalow.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

28-Nov-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/19/1401/2 Full 240 Swithland Lane 
Rothley 
Leicestershire
LE7 7UE

Erection of two storey building for 
education and display purposes 
(Class D2).

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

29-Nov-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P
age 96



Page  10 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/1896/2 Householder 7 Swithland Lane 
Rothley 
Leicestershire 
LE7 7SG

Proposed single storey extension to 
rear and convert garage to habitable 
room of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

02-Dec-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/19/1919/2 Householder 86 Ashby Road Central
Shepshed
LE12 9EE

Erection of single storey extension 
to front for porch, addition of two 
dormer windows to front elevation 
and erection of two storey rear 
extension to create first floor 
accommodation (Revised scheme - 
P/19/1276/2 refers)

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

13-Nov-2019 Shepshed East

P/19/1994/2 Householder 
Prior 
Notification

81B Leicester Road 
Shepshed 
Loughborough
LE12 9 DF

The erection of a single storey rear 
extension extending beyond the rear 
wall of detached house by 8m, with
a maximum height of 4m, and height 
to the eaves of 3m.

Prior approval from the Council is not 
required.

19-Nov-2019 Shepshed East

P/18/2058/2 Full Saley Close 
Shepshed 
Leicestershire 
LE12 9FL

Erection of 5 two storey dwellings. Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

20-Nov-2019 Shepshed East

P/19/1957/2 Householder 9 Glenmore Avenue
Shepshed
LE12 9LQ

Proposed 2-storey extension to side 
of existing dwelling

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

13-Nov-2019 Shepshed West

P/19/1717/2 Householder 14 Avenue Road
Sileby
LE12 7PG

Proposed single storey extension to 
side and rear, and two storey 
extension rear of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

20-Nov-2019 Sileby

P/17/2391/2 Outline 
Planning 
Permission

Land at 195 Seagrave Road
Sileby
LE12 7NH

Site for the erection of up to 23 
dwellings including access and 
associated works.  (Revised scheme
- P/14/1222/2 refers)

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

29-Nov-2019 Sileby

P
age 97



Page  11 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/2126/2 Full Field Barn
234 Seagrave Road
Sileby 
Leicestershire 
LE12 7NJ

Erection of agricultural building for 
equipment storage & livestock 
housing

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

05-Dec-2019 Sileby

P/19/2086/2 Householder 1 Collingwood Drive
Sileby
LE12 7NT

Proposed detached garage to rear
of existing dwelling and formation of 
new access from highway

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

05-Dec-2019 Sileby

P/19/1801/2 Householder 18 Albert Street
Syston 
Leicester 
LE7 2JA

Proposed singel storey extension to 
rear of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

25-Nov-2019 Syston East

P/19/1932/2 Full 34 Wanlip Road
Syston
LE7 1PA

First floor extension to garage 
outbuilding.

Permission refused. 11-Nov-2019 Syston West

P/19/1753/2 Full John Merricks Lake 
Watermead Country Park 
Wanlip Road
Syston
Leicestershire

Demolition of existing buildings 
on-site, the erection of a
single-storey clubhouse building and
6 no. single-storey storage units and 
associated works (partially 
retrospective).

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

15-Nov-2019 Syston West

P/19/0272/2 Full Land at Hoton Park 
Wymeswold Road 
Hoton 
Leicestershire
LE12 5HH

Variation of conditions 2 and 4 of 
P/18/0384/2 - relating to a reduction 
of the landscaping belt along the 
northern boundary.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

25-Nov-2019 The Wolds

P/19/2025/2 Full Field Farm 
East Road 
Wymeswold 
LE12 6ST

Creation of equestrian canter track Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

26-Nov-2019 The Wolds

P
age 98



Page  12 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/1906/2 Householder 1 Earls Way 
Thurmaston 
LE4 8FY

Erection of single storey rear 
extension to dwelling and garage 
conversion including erection of 
pitched roof.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

12-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/1402/2 Householder 40 Manor Road 
Thurmaston 
Leicestershire 
LE4 8AG

Retrospective planning application 
for external rendering and single 
storey extension to side and rear of 
dwelling.  (Revised scheme - 
P/18/0742/2 refers)

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

12-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/1958/2 Householder 123 Humberstone Lane
Thurmaston
LE4 8HN

Proposed single storey rear 
extension and alteration of window 
in front elevation to front door

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

12-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/2176/2 Equipment PD 
Notification

GF at Via Lighting Ltd
Units Knights Close 
off Earls Way 
Thurmaston 
Leicestershire
LE4 8EW

Replacement of 6x antenna to mast. 
(Prior Notification)

The application be agreed without 
conditions.

13-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/1985/2 Full 9 Ivydale Road 
Thurmaston 
LE4 8NF

Erection of two storey extension to 
side and rear, and provision of porch 
to front of dwelling. (revised scheme 
P/19/0478/2 refers)

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

19-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/2231/2 Equipment PD 
Notification

Roundabout of A607
Off Melton Road 
Thurmaston 
Leicestershire 
LE4 8GR

Replacement of 1 no. 15m column 
with 1 no. 17.5m column and 
removal of 1 no. cabinet

The application be agreed without 
conditions.

20-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/1842/2 Full 55 Sandiacre Drive
Thurmaston
LE4 8GD

Erection of single storey side 
extension, creation of hard standing 
to front, installation of dropped kerb 
and erection of 2metre high fencing 
adjacent to public highway.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions. 21-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P
age 99



Page  13 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/1948/2 Householder 36 Manor Road 
Thurmaston 
LE4 8AG

Proposed single storey extensions
to side and rear of existing dwelling, 
construction of car port & porch to 
front of dwelling and proposed 
dropped kerb

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

25-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/2157/2 Householder 
Prior 
Notification

5 Everett Close, 
Thurmaston, Leicester, 
Leicestershire, LE4 8LX

The erection of a single storey rear 
extension extending beyond the rear 
wall of the original house by  5.5m, 
with a maximum height of 3.6m, and 
height to the eaves of 3m.

The prior approval of the Council is 
granted.

26-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/1935/2 Full 55 Ferndale Road
Thurmaston
LE4 8JE

Variation of condition 2 (approved 
plans) of planning permission 
P/19/0795/2 (retrospective 
application).

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

26-Nov-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/2072/2 Full 72 Silverdale Drive
Thurmaston
LE4 8NH

Roof extension to and conversion of 
detached outbuilding to form 
residential annexe.(retrospective 
application)

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

02-Dec-2019 Thurmaston

P/18/0985/2 Outline 
Planning 
Permission

157 Humberstone Lane
Thurmaston
LE4 8HN

Outline application for
redevelopment of workshop site with
33 dwellings, including access 
and layout.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

03-Dec-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/2124/2 Householder 32 Earls Way 
Thurmaston 
Leicestershire 
LE4 8FY

Proposed single storey extension to 
rear of existing dwelling and 
detached games room in rear 
garden

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

05-Dec-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/1966/2 Householder 26 Ratcliffe Road
Thrussington
LE7 4UF

Proposed first floor extension to side 
of existing dwelling

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

14-Nov-2019 Wreake Villages

P
age 100



Page  14 of 14

Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/1570/2 Full Charterwood Lodge
19 Quorn Park 
Paudy Lane 
Seagrave
LE12 8HL

Change of use of land to equestrian, 
proposed replacement stable block 
and alterations and extension to 
existing barn

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

04-Dec-2019     Wreake Villages

P/19/1874/2 Full 4 Thomas Firr Close
Quorn
LE12 8FT

Demolition of conservatory and 
erection of single storey extension to 
rear of dwelling.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

29-Nov-2019

P/19/2104/2 Householder 6 Beechwood Avenue 
Thurmaston 
Leicestershire
LE4 8HA

Two storey extension to side and 
single storey extension to rear of 
semi-detached dwelling and 
provision of dormer window to rear 
elevation.

Permission be granted subject to 
the conditions.

02-Dec-2019

P
age 101


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Planning Applications
	P.19.0524.2 - Land West of Snells Nook Lane Loughborough (1)
	P.19.0524.2 - App - BWB Letter to append to Report - Snells Nook Lane, Loughborough
	P.19.0876.2 - Abbeyfield, 190 Ashby Road, Loughborough
	P.19.1218.2 - 30 Main Street, Cossington

	6 List of Applications Determined under Delegated Powers

